OULU 2024



Jandeh Jallow

# EARLY RISK FACTORS FOR ADHD

## A NORTHERN FINLAND BIRTH COHORT 1986 STUDY

UNIVERSITY OF OULU GRADUATE SCHOOL; UNIVERSITY OF OULU, FACULTY OF MEDICINE; MEDICAL RESEARCH CENTER OULU; OULU UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL



### ACTA UNIVERSITATIS OULUENSIS D Medica 1788

JANDEH JALLOW

### EARLY RISK FACTORS FOR ADHD

A Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986 study

Academic dissertation to be presented with the assent of the Doctoral Programme Committee of Health and Biosciences of the University of Oulu for public defence in Auditorium F202 of the Faculty of Medicine (Aapistie 5 B), on 24 May 2024, at 12 noon

UNIVERSITY OF OULU, OULU 2024

Copyright © 2024 Acta Univ. Oul. D 1788, 2024

Supervised by Docent Tuula Hurtig Doctor Anu-Helmi Halt Professor Jouko Miettunen

Reviewed by Docent Pekka Tani Professor Henrik Larsson

Opponent Professor Eeva Aronen

ISBN 978-952-62-4102-9 (Paperback) ISBN 978-952-62-4103-6 (PDF)

ISSN 0355-3221 (Printed) ISSN 1796-2234 (Online)

Cover Design Raimo Ahonen

PUNAMUSTA TAMPERE 2024

# Jallow, Jandeh, Early risk factors for ADHD. A Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986 study

University of Oulu Graduate School; University of Oulu, Faculty of Medicine; Medical Research Center Oulu; Oulu University Hospital

Acta Univ. Oul. D 1788, 2024

University of Oulu, P.O. Box 8000, FI-90014 University of Oulu, Finland

#### Abstract

The aim of this thesis was to explore early risk factors for ADHD within the Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986 (NFBC1986), and more specifically, to determine whether prenatal maternal inflammation and stress, the duration of breastfeeding, child's own personality and comorbid psychopathology may be associated with an increased risk of ADHD in the offspring.

The NFBC1986 is a population-based birth cohort consisting of 9,479 pregnant women and their 9,432 live-born children, with regard to whom this dissertation utilizes data collected from national registers, clinical examinations, the Borealis Biobank, child health clinics and questionnaires administered at several time points up to 18 years. To study ADHD symptoms, the Rutter Children's Behaviour Questionnaire was used at the age of 8 (n=8,721) and the Strengths and Weaknesses of ADHD symptoms and Normal Behaviours questionnaire at the age of 16 (n=6,622). ADHD was diagnosed by means of a clinical assessment performed at the age of 16 to 18 years (n=457).

Several early life factors were associated with an increased risk of ADHD in the offspring. Unwanted pregnancy and under 3 months of exclusive breastfeeding were associated with hyperactive symptoms at the age of 8 and prenatal maternal fatigue and under 6 months of nonexclusive breastfeeding were markers of an increased risk of ADHD symptoms at the age of 16. Furthermore, the results show that a distinct personality profile was associated with an ADHD diagnosis in adolescence. Adolescents with ADHD were more often novelty seeking and less self-directed, cooperative and persistent than individuals without ADHD.

This is one of the few studies to date that has investigated early life factors in relation to ADHD symptoms in childhood and adolescence, and its most important implications are primarily preventative. The identifying of risk factors for ADHD can enable earlier detection of individuals with ADHD later, which may allow more targeted and timely interventions to prevent the possible impairing outcomes of ADHD. In addition, there are diagnostic challenges regarding ADHD, and it may be over-, under- or misdiagnosed. Identifying the risk factors for ADHD may potentially give rise to new tools for the more accurate diagnosis of ADHD in the future.

*Keywords:* ADHD, breastfeeding, neurodevelopment, pregnancy, prenatal maternal inflammation, prenatal maternal stress, temperament and character, unwanted pregnancy

# Jallow, Jandeh, ADHD:n varhaiset riskitekijät. Pohjois-Suomen syntymäkohorttitutkimus 1986

Oulun yliopiston tutkijakoulu; Oulun yliopisto, lääketieteellinen tiedekunta; Medical Research Center Oulu; Oulun yliopistollinen sairaala

Acta Univ. Oul. D 1788, 2024

Oulun yliopisto, PL 8000, 90014 Oulun yliopisto

#### Tiivistelmä

Tämän väitöskirjatutkimuksen tarkoituksena oli tutkia ADHD:n varhaisia riskitekijöitä vuoden 1986 Pohjois-Suomen syntymäkohortissa (NFBC1986). Tarkemmin eriteltynä tutkin, liittyykö äidin raskauden aikainen tulehdus ja stressi, imetyksen kesto sekä lapsen oma persoonallisuus ja psykiatriset oheissairaudet lisääntyneeseen ADHD-riskiin lapsuus- ja nuoruusiässä.

NFBC1986 on valikoitumaton, yleisväestöpohjainen kohortti, joka koostuu 9 479 raskaana olevasta naisesta ja heidän 9 432 elävänä syntyneestä lapsestaan. Tässä kliinisistä väitöskirjatutkimuksessa hyödynnettiin tietoja kansallisista rekistereistä, tutkimuksista, Borealis-biopankista, lasten neuvolakorteista ja kyselylomakkeista 18 vuoden seuranta-aikana. ADHD-oireiden tutkimiseksi käytettiin käyttäytymistä kartoittavaa kyselyä (the Rutter Children's Behaviour Questionnaire) lasten ollessa kahdeksanvuotiaita (n=8 721) ja ADHD-oirekyselyä (the Strengths and Weaknesses of ADHD symptoms and Normal Behaviours) 16-vuotiaina (n=6 622). ADHD diagnosoitiin kliinisillä tutkimuksilla nuorten ollessa 16-18-vuotiaita (n=457).

Tutkimuksen tulokset osoittavat, että useilla varhaiskehityksellisillä tekijöillä on yhteyttä lisääntyneeseen ADHD-riskiin lapsuus- ja nuoruusaikana. Tutkimuksessa osoitimme ei-toivotun raskauden ja alle kolme kuukautta kestäneen täysimetyksen yhteyden yliaktiivisiin oireisiin 8-vuotiaana. Äidin raskauden aikainen stressi ja alle 6 kuukautta kestänyt osittainen imetys olivat merkkejä lisääntyneestä riskistä ADHD-oireisiin 16-vuotiaana. Myös lapsen oma persoonallisuusprofiili liittyi ADHD-diagnoosiin nuoruusiässä. Nuoret, joilla todettiin ADHD, olivat useammin elämyshakuisia sekä vähemmän itseohjautuvia, yhteistyöhaluisia ja sinnikkäitä kuin he, joilla ei diagnosoitu ADHD:ta.

Tämä väitöskirjatutkimus on yksi harvoista, joissa tutkitaan varhaiskehityksen yhteyttä lapsuus- ja nuoruusiän ADHD:seen. Tutkimuksen tärkeimmät vaikutukset ovat ensisijaisesti ennaltaehkäiseviä. ADHD:n riskitekijöiden tunnistaminen voi mahdollistaa ADHD-potilaiden varhaisemman havaitsemisen, joka voi auttaa soveltamaan kohdennettuja ja oikea-aikaisia toimia ADHD:n haittojen ehkäisemiseksi. Lisäksi ADHD:n suhteen on diagnostiia haasteita, se saattaa olla joko ylidiagnosoitu, väärin diagnosoitu tai alidiagnosoitu. Riskitekijöiden tunnistaminen voi tulevaisuudessa tuoda uusia työkaluja ADHD:n tarkempaa diagnostiikkaa varten.

Asiasanat: ADHD, ei-toivottu raskaus, imetys, neurologinen kehitys, raskaus, raskauden aikainen stressi, raskauden aikainen tulehdus, temperamentti ja luonteenpiirteet

To my dearest Mikko

## Acknowledgement

This study took place at the Research Unit of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine at the University of Oulu. First, my deepest gratitude goes to my supervisors Docent Tuula Hurtig, Anu-Helmi Halt M.D., Ph.D., and Professor Jouko Miettunen. Thank you, Tuula, for your words of encouragement, guidance, and advice, and for trusting me to participate in such an important project and providing guidance along the way. I am grateful that you have pushed me into doing my best to chase the deadlines. Anu-Helmi, thank you for believing in me and for making our meetings fun and exciting. I am grateful to have had you as a role model and as a guide in shaping me as a medical doctor and researcher. Finally, having you, Jouko, as my supervisor has had a considerable impact on my thesis. I am thankful for having had the opportunity to learn about epidemiology, and with your help I have managed to be on time with the practicalities as well. Without your guidance and support this thesis would not have been in the shape it is now.

I started this research with barely any skills, but during my journey you have all three taught me and motivated me when challenges arose and have given me the encouragement I needed. You have always helped me with my questions, whether they were relevant or not. Thank you for always finding time for me, even on Christmas Eve or in the middle of the night. I will be forever grateful for the opportunity to work with you and learn under your guidance.

I would also like to express my gratitude to all my co-authors, especially Martta Kerkelä, Ph.D., to whom I am deeply grateful for the time and effort she spent on this project. Thank you for your constant support and for being patient with me when I understood scarcely anything about statistics. I am very grateful to Malcolm Hicks, M.A., for the linguistic revision of the original papers and the thesis. I also thank Hanna Öhman, Ph.D., for sharing her expertise and wisdom with me, and also Olli Kela M.D. for his time spent on the layout of the thesis, which wouldn't otherwise have been the way it is.

I was privileged to be able to work with datasets from the Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986 (NFBC1986), and I feel that I owe a debt of gratitude to Professor Marjo-Riitta Järvelin for making it possible for me to use the NFBC1986's valuable data. I would also like to thank all the participants in the research and those who were involved in planning it, gathering the data and working on these data before me. I am also grateful for the research unit I was able to work in and I thank Professor Juha Veijola for the research facilities. I thank the preliminary examiners, Docent Pekka Tani and Professor Henrik Larsson, for their well-thought and insightful comments, which all helped considerably to improve my thesis. I am also grateful for Professor Eeva Aronen for accepting to be my opponent and for Professor Sami Räsänen and Professor Mirka Hintsanen for being in my follow-up group.

Without the support of sources of funding, this research would, of course, have been impossible. I am grateful for the financial support received from the following institutions: the Emil Aaltonen Foundation, the Finnish Brain Foundation, the Finnish Cultural Foundation, the Finnish Psychiatric Research Foundation, the Foundation for Paediatric Research, the Jalmari and Rauha Ahokas Foundation, the Orion Research Foundation, the Päivikki and Sakari Sohlberg Foundation, the Stiftelsen Alma and K. A. Snellman Foundation and the University of Oulu Graduate School.

Lastly, I want to express my gratitude to the people closest to me. Thank you to my ever-supporting family – my parents, Laura and Momar, and my siblings Alagie, Saffie, Marie and Antonia – who believed in my academic abilities and encouraged me to aim high in all fields of life. Thank you, Saffie, for your time spent on organizing my dissertation day. A huge thank you also goes to my other family, Erja, Mika and Ella, who have endlessly helped me to pursue all my dreams. I am also grateful to my friends for long conversations, laughs and moments spent free of stress.

Mikko, I will always appreciate everything you do for me. Thank you for sharing your life with me and helping me through all the hopeless moments. Thank you for braiding my hair in the mornings and slow dancing with me in our kitchen in the evenings. I love you.

April 2024

Jandeh Jallow

# Abbreviations and definitions

ADHD	Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder
ANCOVA	Analysis of covariance
ASD	Autism spectrum disorders
CD	Conduct disorder
CI	Confidence interval
СО	Cooperativeness
CRP	C-reactive protein
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th ed.
HA	Harm avoidance
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IQ	Intelligence quotient
K-SADS-PL	Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-
	Age Children, Present and Lifetime Version
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
NDD	Neurodevelopmental disorder
NFBC1986	Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986
NS	Novelty seeking
ODD	Oppositional defiant disorder
OR	Odds ratio
Р	Persistence
p, p-value	Significance probability
RD	Reward dependence
SD	Self-directedness
sd	Standard deviation
ST	Self-transcendence
SWAN	Strengths and Weaknesses of ADHD symptoms and Normal
	Behaviours
TCI	Temperament and Character Inventory
TNF-a	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
χ2	Pearson's chi-square test

## **Original publications**

This thesis is based on the following publications, which are referred to throughout the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Jallow, J., Halt, A.H., Öhman, H., & Hurtig, T. (2020). Prenatal inflammation does not increase the risk for symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in offspring. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30(11), 1825–1828. doi:10.1007/s00787-020-01580-x.
- II Jallow, J., Hurtig, T., Kerkelä, M., Miettunen, M., & Halt, A.H. (2024). Prenatal Maternal Stress, Breastfeeding and Offspring ADHD symptoms. *European & Child Adolescent Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-024-02451-5.
- III Jallow, J., Halt, A.H., Kerkelä, M., Hurtig, T., & Miettunen, J. (2023). Association of temperament and character traits with ADHD and its comorbidities. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 29, 1–7. doi: 10.1080/08039488.2023.2262994.

# Contents

A	bstra	ct		
Ti	iviste	elmä		
A	ckno	wledge	ement	9
A	bbrev	viation	s and definitions	11
0	rigin	al pub	lications	13
Contents			15	
1	Inti	roducti	ion	17
2	Rev	iew of	the literature	19
	2.1	Atten	tion-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)	19
		2.1.1	An overview of ADHD and its prevalence	19
		2.1.2	Diagnostics of ADHD	20
		2.1.3	Characteristics of ADHD presentations	22
		2.1.4	Psychiatric comorbidity with ADHD	23
		2.1.5	Comorbidity of ADHD with other neurodevelopmental	
			disorders	
	2.2	Early	risk factors for ADHD	27
		2.2.1	Known risk factors for ADHD	27
		2.2.2	Prenatal maternal inflammation	30
		2.2.3	Prenatal maternal stress	
		2.2.4	Breastfeeding	32
		2.2.5	Temperament and character profiles	
		2.2.6	Summary of the literature on the risk factors for ADHD	
3	Ain	ns of th	ne research	39
4	Ma	terials	and Methods	41
	4.1	Popul	ation and procedure	41
	4.2	Instru	ments and measures	42
		4.2.1	Maternal data	
		4.2.2	1-year data and child health clinic data	
		4.2.3	The Rutter Children's Behaviour Questionnaire	
		4.2.4	Strengths and Weaknesses of ADHD symptoms and	
			Normal Behaviours (SWAN)	
		4.2.5	Temperament and Character Inventory (TCI)	45
		4.2.6	Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for	
			School-Age Children, Present and Lifetime Version (K-	
			SADS-PL)	45

		4.2.7 Other assessments and study variables	46	
	4.3	.3 Statistical methods		
		4.3.1 Study I	47	
		4.3.2 Study II	47	
		4.3.3 Study III	48	
	4.4	Ethical considerations and personal involvement	48	
5	Res	ults	51	
	5.1	Characteristics of the samples	51	
	5.2	Prenatal maternal inflammation and offspring ADHD	52	
	5.3	Prenatal maternal stress and offspring ADHD	54	
	5.4	Breastfeeding and ADHD	55	
	5.5	Temperament, character, and ADHD	58	
	5.6	Psychiatric comorbidities, temperament and character	59	
6	6 Discussion		63	
	6.1	Main findings	63	
	6.2	Comparison with previous studies	64	
		6.2.1 Prenatal maternal inflammation	64	
		6.2.2 Prenatal maternal stress	65	
		6.2.3 Breastfeeding	66	
		6.2.4 Temperament and character	67	
		6.2.5 Psychiatric comorbidity, temperament, and character	68	
	6.3	Methodological discussion	69	
		6.3.1 Strengths of the study	69	
		6.3.2 Limitations	70	
7	Cor	nclusions	73	
	7.1	Main conclusions	73	
	7.2	Early risk factors for ADHD and the implications of the results	73	
	7.3	Future research	75	
Re	References 77			
0	Original publications 93			

### 1 Introduction

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is one of the most common neurobehavioural disorders. It is a multifactorial disorder defined by ageinappropriate symptoms of inattention, hyperactivity and impulsivity leading to functional impairments in at least two operational environments, including education and social relationships (APA, 2013; Faraone et al., 2021). ADHD has an estimated childhood prevalence of 4% to 7% (Sayal et al., 2018) with increasing evidence pointing to its continuation into adulthood for between 15% and 65% of individuals, with an estimated prevalence of 2.5% (Katzman et al., 2017).

While it is well accepted that the disorder is highly heritable (>70%) (Faraone & Larsson, 2019), not all the risk is genetic. ADHD appears early in life, and there is significant interest in the potential role that the prenatal environment might play in its development. It is estimated that between 10 and 40% of the variance associated with ADHD is likely to be accounted for by environmental factors (Sciberras et al., 2017), and studies have identified numerous pre- and postnatal risk factors which appear to be associated with ADHD, including prematurity, low birth weight (Franz et al., 2018), maternal substance use (Knopik et al., 2019) and environmental toxins (Goodlad et al., 2013).

On the other hand, findings have been inconsistent as to whether there is a relationship between ADHD and early risk factors such as prenatal maternal inflammation, prenatal maternal stress, unwanted pregnancy, breastfeeding and the temperament and character profiles of the offspring. No large longitudinal studies have been able to answer the question of whether these factors increase the risk of ADHD. In other words, not enough evidence has been presented to provide reliable information on the risk factors for ADHD, in view of the fact that a considerable number of studies have been conducted in early childhood, i.e. prior to the age of 6. Also, the outcomes of these studies are difficult to evaluate because many young children cannot avoid being hyperactive.

To address such issues, the present work was aimed at investigating the relationship between ADHD and its early risk factors, focusing on prenatal maternal inflammation, prenatal maternal stress, breastfeeding and the temperament and character profiles of the offspring. The population consisted of the Northern Finland 1986 Birth Cohort (NFBC1986), an unselected general population based on a prospective mother-child birth cohort of 9,432 live births that occurred between 1st July 1985 and 30th June 1986 (Järvelin et al., 1993; University of Oulu, 1986).

With its observational character, this work aims to satisfy practical clinical needs and to generate ideas for future research. Treating ADHD is a complex matter and requires effective strategies for coping with the related symptoms, since Personnel working in medical fields such as family doctors lack information on how to guide families with the risk factors for ADHD and how to address earlier problems in the recognition and diagnosis of this condition. Moreover, prevention or treatment of ADHD may also reduce a child's risk of developing comorbid psychiatric problems.

## 2 Review of the literature

#### 2.1 Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by a non-episodic pattern of inattentive and/or hyperactive-impulsive symptoms occurring more frequently than expected for the patient's age (APA, 2013; Austerman, 2015).

#### 2.1.1 An overview of ADHD and its prevalence

At present ADHD is considered a complex, multifactorial disorder that is caused by the confluence of various genetic and environmental risk factors, each of which makes a small contribution to the individual's increasing sensibility to the disorder. The risk factors interact with each other and if the causal pathways together exceed the threshold of an individual's cumulative vulnerability, an ADHD phenotype emerges (Sciberras et al., 2017).

ADHD is considered a debilitating disorder and is known to impact many aspects of the individual's life including academic and professional achievements, interpersonal relationships and daily functioning (Posner et al., 2020; Seppä et al. 2023). ADHD can lead to poor self-esteem and impaired social function when not appropriately treated (Harpin et al., 2016), and children with ADHD may have difficulties in sitting still, waiting their turn and paying attention, thus becoming fidgety and acting impulsively (Posner et al., 2020). These symptoms lead to significant suffering and cause problems at home, at school or work, and in personal relationships, but they are not the result of the individual being defiant or unable to understand tasks or instructions. Furthermore, adults with ADHD may experience poor self-esteem, sensitivity towards criticism, and increased self-criticism, possibly stemming from the higher levels of criticism received throughout life (Beaton et al., 2022).

ADHD has an estimated childhood prevalence of 4% to 7% (Sayal et al., 2018), while its prevalence in Finland in 2022 was 8.3% and 3.3% for boys and girls aged 7 to 17, respectively (THL, 2024). Of these, ADHD medication was provided for 5% of the boys aged 7–15 and 1.2% of the girls (Vuori, 2020). The onset of hyperactivity typically occurs at the age of 3 or 4 years, with combined hyperactivity and inattention usually occurring from 5 to 8 years onwards

(Austerman, 2015). In practise, however, ADHD is often first identified in schoolaged children, when it leads to disruption in the classroom or problems with schoolwork (Harpin, 2016). Essentially, the clinical course of ADHD is chronic, and the evolution of symptoms is progressive and constant. Earlier studies have suggested that around 80–85% of pre-teen ADHD cases continue to experience symptoms in their adolescent years (Brahmbhatt et al., 2016) and according to reported findings, the incidence of ADHD in adolescents aged 12 to 18 is 5.6% (Salari et al., 2023). Moreover, there is increasing evidence pointing to the continuation of ADHD into adulthood in between 15% and 65% of cases, with an estimated prevalence of 2.5% (Katzman et al., 2017).

The estimated prevalence rates for attention disorders quoted in epidemiological research vary according to factors such as the informant concerned, the diagnostic threshold, the time frame, the gender of each subject and the population studied. There is also a preponderance of males in the prevalence of ADHD, the male-to-female ratio in population-based studies being approximately 3:1 and varying from 5:1 to 9:1 in clinical samples (Skogli et al., 2013). Regardless of the ratio, this does not inevitably mean that boys are more likely to have ADHD. Boys tend to present with hyperactivity and other externalizing symptoms, whereas girls tend to react with inactivity (Katzman et al., 2017).

#### 2.1.2 Diagnostics of ADHD

The diagnosis of ADHD is largely based on two criteria. That mainly used in Europe is the International Classification of Diseases, 11th edition (ICD-11) (World Health Organization, 2019), whereas diagnosis in America is based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th ed. (DSM-5) (APA, 2013). In Finland we still use the 10th edition of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) (World Health Organization, 1993). These criteria do not substantially differ from each other, however.

The evaluation of ADHD in children and adolescents includes a history and physical examination, a review of information applying to home and community settings, and application of the DSM-5 or ICD-10 criteria (Austerman et al., 2015, Posner et al., 2020). No specific test can diagnose ADHD, and both criteria require the presence of a sufficient number of core symptoms. The diagnosis in children requires six or more of the symptoms of inattention and/or six or more symptoms of hyperactivity-impulsivity (APA, 2013; World Health Organization, 1993). The physician should ask about the presence and duration of ADHD symptoms and the

degree of functional impairment from the perspective of the patient, family and school. The diagnosis should be based on the presence of persistent symptoms (see Table 1) that have occurred over a period of time and have been noticeable over the past six months (APA, 2013).

Although ADHD can be diagnosed at any age, the disorder begins in childhood. When considering a diagnosis according to DSM-5 the symptoms must have been present before the individual was 12 years old, while in the use of ICD-10 implies that the symptoms should have been visible before 7 years of age (APA, 2013; World Health Organization, 1993). In both criteria the symptoms must have caused difficulties in more than one setting, i.e. they shouldn't occur only at home, for instance (Felt et al., 2014). The diagnostic criteria for ADHD in DSM-5 are shown in Table 1. The physician should also look for other possible conditions that may mimic or coexist with ADHD. For instance, sleep problems can affect daytime functioning and account for mild ADHD symptoms (Posner et al., 2020). Medical, social and family histories should be reviewed for medical, contextual, environmental or genetic risk factors.

Many children diagnosed with ADHD will continue to meet the criteria for the disorder later in life and may show impairments requiring ongoing treatment. Sometimes, however, a diagnosis of ADHD may be missed during childhood, so that a comprehensive evaluation of an adult should typically include a review of past and current symptoms, a medical examination and history and the use of adult rating scales or checklists (Austerman et al., 2015). In contrast to childhood diagnosis, which ADHD diagnosis in adults requires only five or more symptoms of inattention and/or five or more of the following symptoms of hyperactivity or impulsivity (APA, 2013).

Table 1. Diagnostic criteria for ADHD in children and adolescents according to the DSM-5.

Inattentive symptoms	Hyperactive-impulsive symptoms	
1. Makes a lot of careless mistakes	1. Fidgets	
2. Difficulty sustaining attention on tasks	2. Difficulty remaining seated	
3. Does not listen	3. Runs or climbs excessively	
4. Difficulty following instructions	4. Difficulty playing quietly	
5. Difficulty organizing tasks	5. Driven by motor	
6. Dislikes/avoids tasks	6. Talks excessively	
7. Loses things	7. Blurts out answers	
8. Easily distracted	8. Difficulty waiting turn	
9. Forgetful in daily activities	9. Interrupts or intrudes	

Other criteria for ADHD diagnosis

- symptoms are present before the age of 12
- symptoms are displayed in at least two different settings
- symptoms make life considerably more difficult on a social, academic or occupational level
- symptoms are not just part of a developmental disorder or difficult phase, and are not better accounted for by some other condition

#### 2.1.3 Characteristics of ADHD presentations

Three main nominal presentations of ADHD are identified in DSM-5: predominantly inattentive presentation, predominantly hyperactive/impulsive presentation and combined presentation (APA, 2013). Each type of ADHD is tied to one or more characteristics. Generally, persons of the inattentive type get distracted and have poor concentration and organizational skills. In addition, they can have difficulty in organizing their thoughts and processing new information. The predominantly hyperactive/impulsive symptoms never seem to slow down and they involve interrupting, taking risks and difficulties in pursuing a task consistently. Children with hyperactive/impulsive type ADHD can cause disruption in a classroom and can make learning more difficult for themselves and other pupils. Combined presentation implies that a combination of symptoms from both categories will have been exhibited (Salvi et al., 2019).

The predominantly inattentive type is diagnosed if at least six of the nine inattentive symptoms are present, the predominantly hyperactive-impulsive type if at least six of the nine hyperactive/impulsive symptoms are present and the combined type in the presence of at least six inattentive symptoms and six hyperactive-impulsive symptoms (see Table 1) (APA, 2013). Enumerating the number of ways an individual can meet the criteria illustrates the potential heterogeneity of the diagnosis: the number of different combinations of 6 drawn from 9 is 504. The heterogeneous nature of ADHD is one cause of its multifactorial aetiology which is reflected in its diversity of clinical profiles and psychiatric comorbidities (Katzman et al. 2017).

According to evidence from worldwide research, the predominantly inattentive type is the most common of the three nominal presentations of ADHD in children aged 4–18, followed by the hyperactive/impulsive type and then the combined type, with prevalences of 2.95%, 2.77% and 2.44%, respectively (Ayano et al., 2020). Epidemiological evidence also suggests that ADHD is more prevalent among boys in all three presentations. Inattentive presentation is the most prevalent type in girls (Simon et al., 2009), and inattentive symptoms remain relatively consistent over time whereas hyperactive/impulsive symptoms are developmentally sensitive and tend to decline gradually and are therefore more prevalent in children (Ayano et al., 2020).

#### 2.1.4 Psychiatric comorbidity with ADHD

Around two-thirds of individuals with ADHD have at least one psychiatric comorbid diagnosis (Katzman et al., 2017; Seo et al. 2022). In addition, 18% of children and adolescents aged 6-17 with ADHD have three or more comorbidities (Cuffe et al., 2020). The comorbidity prevalences vary, while clinical samples show slightly greater numbers than population-based samples. The psychiatric disorders that co-occur with ADHD in the NFBC1986 cohort are shown in Figure 1. It is necessary in the differential diagnosis of ADHD to assess whether the symptoms can be explained by other diseases or disorders. Many disorders that are essential for differential diagnosis can also occur simultaneously with ADHD (Katzman et al., 2017). The most frequent comorbid psychopathologies comprise externalizing disorders, including substance use disorders, behavioural disorders and internalizing disorders, including mood and anxiety disorders and bipolar disorder. Recent studies have found that the hyperactive/impulsive type of ADHD has a higher frequency of anxiety disorders than is found in patients with the combined type of presentation (Salvi et al., 2019). Furthermore, combined presentation shows more behavioural problems and emotional lability (Wu et al., 2022).



Fig. 1. Co-occurring psychiatric disorders in 16–18-year-olds diagnosed with ADHD in the Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986. (Modified from ADHD: Käypä hoito -suositus, 2019).

Comorbidity between ADHD and externalizing behaviour disorders such as oppositional defiant disorder (ODD) and conduct disorder (CD) has been found in epidemiological studies of children, (Ercan et al., 2013), the prevalences of ODD and CD co-occurring with the combined type of ADHD being 50.7% and 27%, respectively (Elia et al., 2008; Larson, 2011). In clinic-referred samples, ADHD and comorbid CD appear to be related to greater symptom severity of ADHD (Kessler et al., 2014). Although genetic and environmental factors are associated with both ADHD and behavioural disorders, the largest contributions to comorbid ADHD and CD/ODD are made by shared familial factors such as disturbances in the family, disrupted parent-child relationships and high levels of parenting stress (Cuffe et al., 2020).

ADHD and depression frequently co-occur in both children and adults, with reported prevalence rates for depression in individuals with ADHD ranging from 18.6% to 53.3%, while children show lower prevalences (Katzman et al., 2017). Individuals with comorbid ADHD and depression have a high disease burden, including lower self-reported quality of life than in those with depression alone (Riglin et al., 2021). In addition, the risk of anxiety disorders is higher in individuals with ADHD than in the general population, with rates approaching 50%

(Katzman et al., 2017). Individuals with anxiety disorders who have comorbid ADHD tend to have more severe anxiety symptoms, an earlier age of onset of anxiety, and more frequent additional comorbid psychiatric diagnoses than those who do not have ADHD (Gair et al., 2021).

Possibly the most common condition found to be comorbid with ADHD in adults is substance use disorder, particularly alcohol and/or nicotine, cannabis and cocaine (Spijkerman et al., 2021). Substance abuse or dependence is approximately twice as common in individuals with ADHD as it is in the general population (Katzman et al., 2017). The burden of comorbid ADHD with substance use disorder is substantial, as ADHD has been found to be associated with an earlier onset of substance use, an increased likelihood of suicide attempts, more hospitalizations and less likelihood of achieving abstinence. Overall, the co-occurrence of ADHD and substance use disorder can result in a more severe course of both substance use and psychiatric symptoms and their outcomes (Cuffe et al., 2020).

Adult ADHD also has a high prevalence of comorbidity with bipolar disorder. Rates of comorbid bipolar disorder in ADHD cases have been estimated at 5.1% and 47.1% (Katzman et al., 2017), and several studies have suggested that comorbid ADHD expedites an earlier age of onset of bipolar disorder. In one report, 65% of the individuals with ADHD had an early onset of bipolar disorder compared with only 20% of those who did not have comorbid ADHD (Tamam et al., 2008). In addition to an earlier age of onset, bipolar individuals with comorbid ADHD have demonstrated poorer overall course of the illness with shorter periods of health and more frequent episodes of mania and depression (Salvi et al., 2021).

Although there are strong familial links between ADHD and psychiatric comorbidities, it has been demonstrated that similar regions of the brain are involved in ADHD as in psychiatric disorders (Bond et al., 2012). Neuroimaging studies have implicated differences in the volume and activity of the frontal lobe, which is responsible for attention, behaviour selection and emotion. The overlapping symptoms between ADHD and its comorbid psychopathologies represent challenges for their recognition, diagnosis and management. Symptoms of depression and anxiety may naturally overlap with some ADHD symptoms, such as poor concentration or restlessness, which may be symptoms of all these disorders. Consequently, ADHD may not be the primary disorder. The guidelines recommend that when ADHD coexists with other psychopathologies in adults it is the most seriously impairing condition that should generally be treated first (APA, 2013). Early recognition and treatment of ADHD and its comorbidities has the potential to change the trajectory of psychiatric morbidity later in life (Katzman et al., 2017).

#### 2.1.5 Comorbidity of ADHD with other neurodevelopmental disorders

There is substantial comorbidity of ADHD with other neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs), i.e. early onset disorders originating in the central nervous system with impairments generally lasting into adulthood (Thapar et al., 2017). The DSM-5 classifies NDDs into six main groups: intellectual disability, communication disorders, autism spectrum disorder (ASD), ADHD, neurodevelopmental motor disorders and specific learning disorders (APA, 2013).

Intellectual disabilities are defined by the DSM-5 as deficits in general mental abilities, which includes impairments in intellectual functioning and the skills of everyday life (APA, 2013). These core characteristics are often accompanied by ADHD. The prevalence rate for ADHD in people with intellectual disability has been estimated to be around 20% (Sawhney et al., 2021). One study showed that children with mild intellectual disability and ADHD appear to be clinically typical ADHD children except that they present with more conduct problems (Ahuja et al., 2013).

ASD is characterized by persistent deficits in social interaction and social communication in multiple contexts and restricted, repetitive patterns of stereotyped behaviour, interests, or activities (Fernell & Gillberg, 2023). A metaanalysis in 2022 found that over one fourth of adolescents with ASD had concurrent ADHD (Mutluer et al., 2022), while conversely, approximately 1 in 8 adolescents with ADHD will also have ASD (Antshel & Russo, 2019). The pattern of behaviour including inattention and hyperactivity-impulsivity may overlap between the two conditions, which complicates differential diagnosis, so that adolescents with ADHD, for example, are diagnosed as having ASD approximately two years later than children with ASD without pre-existing ADHD (Kentrou et al., 2019). Children with ASD and concurrent ADHD show more impairments in activities of daily living and in social adaptation than children with ASD without comorbid ADHD (Fernell & Gillberg, 2023).

The prevalence of motor problems in children with ADHD ranges from 30 to 52% depending on the method of measurement and the manner of ADHD presentation, i.e. the predominantly inattentive and combined types of ADHD have been found to show more fine motor problems than the predominantly hyperactive presentation type (Mokobane et al., 2019). Furthermore, ADHD and learning disorders often co-occur and it is estimated that 20 to 60% of individuals with ADHD also present with learning disorders (Langberg et al., 2011; Pliszka, 1998). A meta-analysis published in 2013 found that children under the age of 10 with

ADHD symptoms showed around three times more dyslexia and dyscalculia than children without ADHD symptoms (Czamara et al., 2013). Language problems are also common and it is reported that nearly half of all children with ADHD have a learning problem (Staikova et al. 2013).

All NDDs share at least partially the same underlying process, risk factors and characteristics which cause diagnostic challenges. Accurate identification is challenging for ADHD because it is often enmeshed with other neurodevelopmental disorders (Thapar et al., 2017). Moreover, the presence of other NDDs together with ADHD not only increases the heterogeneity of phenotypes but also tends to disguise or alter the ADHD symptoms so that children are more likely to be misdiagnosed and their ADHD diagnosis delayed (Askri et al., 2023). What makes it even more challenging is that the previous disease classifications (ICD-9 and ICD-10) conceptualized most NDDs as separate, exclusive categories, so that a diagnosis of ASD excluded ADHD, for example (World Health Organization, 1993). In conclusion, the accurate diagnosis of NDDs in early childhood is vital for timely effective treatment, which will alleviate the severity of the symptoms and the long-term impacts of the disorder (Hus & Segal, 2021).

#### 2.2 Early risk factors for ADHD

This section will provide an overview of the types of risk factors for ADHD, some of which are well-known, while others have been studied only to a limited extent.

#### 2.2.1 Known risk factors for ADHD

It is well accepted that ADHD is highly heritable (>70%) (Faraone & Larsson, 2019) but to date no single gene has been discovered that plays a major role in this. In particular, the genetic basis is likely to be held in common with other NDDs and to involve many genes which have a small individual effect (Thapar et al., 2013). The suspected ADHD genes are thought to be involved in the creation of dopamine, which when normally produced is in charge of the brain's ability to maintain regular and consistent attention (Alonso-Gonzalez et al., 2019).

Despite the high heritability of ADHD, not all the risk involved is genetic. ADHD appears early in life, and significant interest has been shown in the potential role that the pre- and postnatal environment might play in the development of this disorder. It is estimated that between 10 and 40% of the variance associated with ADHD is likely to be accounted for by environmental factors (Sciberras et al., 2017). Still, it should be noted that in addition to the purely environmental risk, estimates of heritability should also include an element of dynamic genetic, epigenetic and environmental interactions (Faraone & Larsson, 2019).

Numerous pre- and postnatal risk factors have been identified which appear to be associated with ADHD, and in addition, these risk factors partially overlap in all NDDs and are not specific to ADHD. Prenatal development is one of the most critical windows during which adverse conditions and exposures may influence the development of the fetal brain and its future postnatal health (Sciberras et al., 2017). Well recognized prenatal risk factors predicting ADHD include prematurity, low birth weight (Franz et al., 2018), maternal substance use (Knopik et al., 2019) and environmental toxins (Goodlad et al., 2013).

Prematurity (born at 22–37 weeks' gestation), especially extreme prematurity (<28 weeks' gestation), has the strongest relationship with ADHD of all the prenatal risk factors that have been implicated (Franz et al., 2018), while the evidence for an effect of low birth weight (<2500 g) is less clear, although there is some evidence to support an increased risk of ADHD, independent of prematurity, in those that are small for gestational age (Aarnoudse-Moens et al., 2009). This implies that being born early or having a low birth weight can disrupt the normal sequence of brain development processes. While improvements in perinatal care have resulted in increased survival rates for extreme preterm neonates and/or those with a very low birthweight (<1500 g), there is a growing awareness that many of these children encounter neurodevelopmental problems such as behavioural problems and deficits (Montagna et al., 2020).

Maternal prenatal substance use is widely recognized as a risk factor, and has been linked to numerous adverse health consequences for both the developing fetus and the mother (Sciberras et al., 2017). Yet a considerable proportion of women in Europe continue their substance use while pregnant. The most frequently used substance is tobacco, followed by alcohol, cannabis and other illicit substances (Forray & Foster, 2015). The European Region has the highest estimated prevalence of smoking during pregnancy, 8.1% (Lange et al., 2018). Nicotine intake can damage the developing fetal brain by interfering with its dopaminergic activity (Shiberras et al., 2017), and the findings also suggest that there are a variety of placental complications linked to prenatal exposure to substance use which could effectively translate into neurodevelopmental complications (Einarson & Riordan, 2009). An umbrella review in 2020 linked prenatal exposure to tobacco with later ADHD (Kim et al., 2020), and furthermore, a Finnish study revealed a dose-

response relationship between nicotine exposure during pregnancy and ADHD in the offspring (Sourander et al. 2019). In addition to drugs, the same study linked maternal acetaminophen and SSRI exposure during pregnancy to a higher risk of offspring ADHD, and similar associations have been demonstrated with maternal pre-pregnancy obesity and gestational diabetes and with pre-eclampsia (Kim et al., 2020).

Postnatal environmental toxins are also a widely identified risk factor for ADHD, and in particular environmental lead and PCB exposures have been associated with higher rates of inattention and impulsivity (Donzelli et al., 2019). Numerous neurotransmitter systems, such as dopamine, are sensitive to endocrine disruption (Braun et al., 2006), and exposure to even small doses of endocrine disruptors such as lead can cause subtle or even serious damage to the endocrine system. The early factors suggested as affecting the risk of ADHD are summarized in Table 2.

Risk factor	Risk estimate	Reference
Genes (both parents′ ADHD)	Pooled prevalence 0.38, 95% Cl 0.08–0.68	Uchida et al., 2021 (meta-analysis)
Male gender	Male to female ratio 3:1	Barkley, 2006 (original publication)
Preterm birth or low birthweight	Odds ratio 3.04 95% CI 2.19–4.21	Franz et al., 2018 (meta-analysis)
Maternal smoking during pregnancy	Odds ratio 1.60 95% CI 1.45–1.76	Kim et al., 2020 (umbrella review)
Acetaminophen exposure during pregnancy	Odds ratio 1.25 95% CI 1.17–1.34	Kim et al., 2020 (umbrella review)
SSRI exposure during pregnancy	Odds ratio 1.37 95% CI 1.16–1.63	Kim et al., 2020 (umbrella review)
Maternal pre-pregnancy obesity	Odds ratio 1.49 95% CI 1.14–1.94	Bitsko et al., 2022 (meta-analysis)
Gestational diabetes	Odds ratio 2.10 95% CI 1.42, 2.81	Kim et al., 2020 (umbrella review)
Pre-eclampsia	Odds ratio 1.26 95% CI 1.09, 1.46	Bitsko et al., 2022 (meta-analvsis)

Table 2. Ea	arly risk factors	for ADHD and	their risk estimates.
-------------	-------------------	--------------	-----------------------

Risk factor	Risk estimate	Reference
Environmental lead	Odds ratio 1.73 95% CI 1.09, 2.73	Ji et al., 2018
		(original publication)

#### 2.2.2 Prenatal maternal inflammation

Maternal health during pregnancy plays a major role in shaping health and disease risks in the offspring. In general, inflammation and infections are common events during pregnancy. Inflammation is part of the biological response of body tissues to harmful stimuli such as pathogens or damaged cells (Furman et al., 2019), and pathogens, such as viruses and bacteria, can be explanatory factors for infections, which in turn typically cause acute inflammation (Ginsberg et al., 2019). More harmful still, however, is chronic inflammation, which usually appears in the form of low-grade inflammation and is increasingly being recognized as a cause or consequence of many common problems, including obesity, stress, depression, pollution and disease states such as autoimmunity, asthma and infection (Furman et al., 2019).

Maternal immune activation, triggered by both acute and systemic chronic inflammation, has been hypothesized to be one of the mechanisms implicated in the pathogenesis of neurodevelopmental disorders. Thus, our current evidence on the association between maternal inflammation during pregnancy and the subsequent risk of neurodevelopmental disorders pertains primarily to conditions such as schizophrenia, autism and cerebral palsy (Han et al., 2021; Werenberg Dreier et al., 2016). Although the mechanisms through which maternal inflammation causes brain impairment are not well understood (Werenberg Dreier et al., 2016), one potential explanation may lie in elevated maternal interleukin-6 (IL-6) levels, leading to an anatomically larger and more functionally connected amygdala in the offspring. The amygdala is responsible for emotional responses and deformities in it may be linked to poorer impulse control at the age of two years (Graham et al., 2018).

Only a few studies to date have assessed the impact of inflammation on pregnancy and the risk of ADHD in the child, and the results have been inconsistent as to whether prenatal maternal inflammation and ADHD are connected or not. Most of the previous studies have used maternal respiratory infections and genitourinary infections as markers of inflammation, but where three studies published between 2007 and 2014 support an association between prenatal maternal infections and ADHD in the offspring (Mann et al., 2011; Pineda, 2007;

Silva, 2014), more recent ones have not found any such association (Ginsberg et al., 2019; Werenberg Dreier et al., 2016).

There have only been two previous studies in which C-reactive protein (CRP) has been used as a blood marker for inflammation when exploring the association between prenatal maternal inflammation and ADHD in the offspring, and these were inconsistent (Chudal et al., 2020, Rosenberg et al. 2023). In addition, to the present author's knowledge there has been only one study with clinical evaluations that has investigated maternal inflammation during pregnancy in relation to childhood ADHD, and this reported that higher levels of cytokines (IL-6, TNF-a and MCP-1) were associated with increased severity of ADHD symptoms in children at 4–6 years of age (Gustafsson et al., 2020).

#### 2.2.3 Prenatal maternal stress

The prevalence of prenatal maternal stress, i.e. a low or negative state of well-being during pregnancy, has been estimated at 31% (McDonald et al., 2013). Stress in this context includes negative life events, anxiety and depressive symptoms, and can be either chronic, linked to ongoing events in the woman's life, or acute, linked to sudden changes in her daily routine or environment.

Research findings have associated stress levels with negative consequences in fetal and infant development. The pituitary-adrenal axis, for example, is thought to play a key role in mediating the effects of maternal stress on the fetus, so that when a pregnant woman is exposed to an event that is perceived as stressful, the brain triggers a cascade of events on the pituitary-adrenal axis ultimately leading to the release of stress hormones such as cortisol (Seckl & Holmes, 2007), which can pass from the mother to the fetus via the placenta. Exposure to these high cortisol levels may then have a negative effect on the developing fetus (Zhu et al., 2015). Furthermore, in utero exposure to high levels of cortisol may also affect postnatal development (Van den Bergh et al., 2020).

There is a growing literature examining the health consequences for the offspring of exposure to high stress hormone levels in utero. Epidemiological studies have shown that prenatal stress increases the rate of spontaneous abortions, fetal malformations, and preterm births (Coussons-Read, 2013). In addition, earlier studies have shown that exposure to stress is associated with the development of common somatic and psychiatric diseases such as mental disorders and cardiovascular diseases (Evans et al., 2020). Along with these, research has suggested that prenatal stress will disturb the neurobehavioural development of the

offspring, and consequently a few studies have shown that prenatal maternal stress increases the risk of the offspring developing ADHD (Manzari et al., 2019; Okano et al., 2019), although in some instances this association has been found only in boys (Li et al., 2010; Rodriguez et al.; 2005 Shao et al., 2020; Zhu et al., 2015).

In contrast, not all the studies have found an association between maternal stress and the risk of ADHD in the offspring (Rice et al., 2010; Rosenqvist et al., 2018), preferring to suggest that the association is largely explained by familial factors (Rosenqvist et al., 2018). Furthermore, there are limitations in the literature on prenatal maternal stress and ADHD. To this day, there have been only a few prospective studies, while the majority of those reporting adjusted results are case– control studies, which may be subject to recall bias. In addition, most reports do not adjust for key potential confounders such as gender, parents' psychiatric disorders, maternal age and socio-economic status. Another alternative is to use fatigue to determine prenatal maternal stress, since there is evidence to suggest a clear bidirectional association between fatigue and stress (Kop & Kupper, 2016).

Apart from prenatal maternal stress, unwanted pregnancy is a major risk factor for maternal depression, anxiety (Biaggi et al., 2016) and pregnancy complications (Eftekhariyazdi et al., 2021), but unlike stress during pregnancy, the role of unwanted pregnancy in the risk of offspring ADHD has only been studied once before, when a positive association was established (Golmirzaei et al., 2013).

#### 2.2.4 Breastfeeding

Breastfeeding is one of the most widely studied and important postnatal influences not only on infant health but also on early cortical development, and thus probably on self-regulation, emotional development and neurodevelopmental conditions (Krol et al., 2018). A lack of breastfeeding has been linked with offspring mortality caused by infectious diseases, child obesity, both type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus, leukaemia and sudden infant death syndrome (Stuebe, 2009). As for the importance of breastfeeding, the Finnish Institute of Health and Welfare recommends exclusive breastfeeding for the first 4 to 6 months, with continued breastfeeding along with the introduction of appropriate complementary foods up to one year of age (THL, 2023).

Furthermore, the outcomes of breastfeeding have been examined with respect to neurodevelopmental diseases. In relation to ADHD, initiation and duration of breastfeeding may be expected to be particularly important among the neonate's early experiences for several reasons. Firstly, the occurrence of ADHD is in theory based on the child's early neural development (Faraone & Larsson, 2019). The early postnatal period is characterized by continued developmental plasticity, and as nutrition is among the most important supports for such development, suboptimal infant nutrition can induce adaptations that may be detrimental to brain development (Herba et al., 2013). Secondly, ADHD is associated with higher-order cognitive delays, including a subtle reduction in the intelligence quotient (IQ) (Polderman et al., 2010). Consistent with the above, breastfeeding has been associated with better intellectual function in children and the effect is understood as being dose-dependent in relation to the duration of breastfeeding, as noted in a meta-analysis published over two decades ago (Anderson et al., 1999).

Thirdly, the duration of breastfeeding has been associated directly with brain white matter development in infants and toddlers (Herba et al., 2013; Tawia, 2013), and it was subsequently found in eight-year-old children that the duration of breastfeeding was associated with increased white matter development in key brain tracts, including the superior longitudinal fasciculus, the cingulum, the body of the corpus callosum and the posterior thalamic radiations (Ou et al., 2014). These brain regions are similar to those in which altered white matter development had been noted previously in eight-year-olds with ADHD (Nagel et al., 2011).

Although no association of breastfeeding with ADHD has yet been firmly established, a recent meta-analysis showed that ADHD is more common in children with lower rates of breastfeeding (Tseng et al., 2019). On the other hand, the mechanism by which breastfeeding affects a child's health has not yet been determined, although it has been thought to be either biological (protective effects of breastmilk) or psychological (mother-child contact). Some studies have also suggested that ADHD children are simply harder to breastfeed and that this alone may explain the association (Stadler et al., 2016). Contrary to the recent meta-analysis, several studies have found no association between maternal breastfeeding and offspring ADHD (Boucher et al., 2017; Schwenke et al., 2018).

In addition, the varying targets of exclusive or non-exclusive breastfeeding might account for the differing results. For example, in one recent study the rate of exclusive breastfeeding for a duration of over 12 months did not differ significantly between children with ADHD and controls (Say et al., 2015). However, Stadler et al., focusing on non-exclusive breastfeeding, suggested that the children with ADHD had a significantly lower rate of breastfeeding for a duration of over 12 months than did the controls (Stadler et al., 2016).

#### 2.2.5 Temperament and character profiles

Given the centrality of emotional processes for normative social and cognitive development, research has increasingly become focused on the significance of stable internal factors such as personality for the development of neurobehavioural disorders. Personality is viewed as being composed of temperament and character, both of which have been implicated in developmental psychopathology and together encompass both biological and environmental influences (Cloninger et al., 1993). Temperament describes an individual's profile of biological response patterns to external stimuli, which is reflected in individual differences in emotional responses to the environment (Cloninger et al., 1993). These may play a central role in determining individual differences among young people with or without ADHD, especially regarding emotional and behavioural functioning as well as comorbidity concerns.

Various models have been used to describe personality. The Big Five personality model allows the evaluation of five main factors: Openness to experience, Conscientiousness, Extraversion, Agreeableness and Neuroticism (Costa & McCrae, 1992). Meanwhile, Cloninger describes a psychobiological model for the structure and development of personality that accounts for the dimensions of both temperament and character (Cloninger et al., 1993). In this model temperament is determined by neurobiological and genetic factors and can be divided into four independent dimensions: Novelty Seeking (NS), Harm Avoidance (HA), Reward Dependence (RD) and Persistence (P). According to Cloninger's theory, these dimensions are associated with the brain's neurotransmitters, high novelty seeking being associated with high dopamine levels (Costa et al., 2014) and high harm avoidance with low serotonin levels (Lin et al., 2013). Also, there have been findings that associate high noradrenaline with reward dependence (Nagy et al., 2022). In general, people with high novelty seeking tend to react to new stimuli and allusions that point to reward or experience. They try to avoid uninflected and dull situations. In addition, curiosity and impulsivity are associated with high novelty seeking. Harm avoidance is defined as the avoidance of stimuli that are felt to be obnoxious or indeterminate. Reward dependence is a dimension that covers persons who tend to maintain pleasant and previously rewarded actions, especially in social situations. People with lower persistence are typically unable to maintain good behaviour in the face of frustration (Hansenne, 1999).
Furthermore, character refers to self-concepts and individual differences in goals and values which may influence people's voluntary choices, intentions and the meaning and salience of what they experience in life. Differences in character are moderately heritable and moderately influenced by socio-cultural learning. Character may be divided into three dimensions: Self-Directedness (SD), Cooperativeness (CO) and Self-Transcendence (ST) (Cloninger et al., 1993). People with poor teamwork and supporting skills usually have lower scores for cooperativeness, while self-directedness is a personality trait of self-determination, and it describes the ability to regulate one's behaviour according to the demands of the situation. In addition, self-transcendence is a personality trait that involves the expansion of one's personal boundaries. In general, there is no universal consensus about differentiating between temperament and character, but it is thought that temperament involves a greater element of genetic determination, whereas character can be more shaped via environmental stimuli (Ando et al., 2004; Cloninger et al., 1993). The personality dimensions and traits observable in high and low scorers are shown in Figure 2.



# Fig. 2. Temperament and character traits for high and low scorers according to Cloninger's model.

Despite its importance, the evidence for an adolescent's temperament structure is highly inconsistent in the literature and studies tend to use different models to predict psychopathology, which may lead to inconclusive results. One recent metaanalysis showed that there are extensive, complex and distinct relationships between the various temperament and character traits and the different types of mental disorders (Komasi et al., 2022). The most important finding of this metaanalysis was that harm avoidance and self-directedness play a fundamental role in psychopathology. As far as ADHD is concerned, a meta-analysis in 2019 showed that it has come to be associated with higher novelty seeking and lower persistence and cooperativeness scores (Pinzone et al., 2019). In contrast, the same study did not associate ADHD with reward dependence. Intriguingly, current studies have yielded contradictory results concerning the association between ADHD and harm avoidance and two of the character traits: self-directedness and self-transcendence (Melegari et al., 2015; Pinzone et al., 2019). A review of the associations between ADHD and temperament and character found in recent studies using Cloninger's personality dimensions is provided in Table 3.

Study	Study	Study	NS	HA	RD	Р	SD	со	ST
	Design	Population							
Anckarsäter et	Case-	240	↑	<b>↑</b>	-	-	Ļ	Ļ	-
al., 2006	Control								
Cho et al.,	Case-	102	Ť	-	-	-	$\downarrow$	-	-
2008	Control								
Faraone et al.,	Case-	370	Ť	Ť	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	Ť
2009	Control								
He et al., 2019	Case-	329	Ť	Ť	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	Ť
	Control								
Kim et al.,	Case-	429	Ť	Ť	-	-	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	Ť
2017	Control								
Melegari et al.,	Case-	120	Ť	-	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	-	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$
2015	Control								
Merwood et	Case-	886	Ť	$\uparrow^1$	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow \uparrow^2$	-	-	-
al., 2013	Control								
Perroud et al.,	Case-	522	Ť	Ť	-	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow^1$	$\downarrow^3$	$\uparrow^3$
2016	Control								
Pinzone et al.,	Systematic	15 articles	<b>↑</b>	<b>↑</b>	-	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	Ť
2019	review	using TCI							
Rapinesi et al.,	Case-	98	-	<b>↑</b>	-	-	$\downarrow$	-	-
2018	Control								

Table 3. Association of ADHD with temperament and character profiles. The arrows indicate an association between ADHD and the personality profile as compared to healthy controls.

 $\uparrow$  ; Higher in individuals with ADHD.  $\downarrow$  ; lower in individuals with ADHD. -; no statistically significant association

<sup>1</sup>Only in inattentive ADHD

<sup>2</sup>Higher points in hyperactive-impulsive ADHD, lower points in inattentive ADHD

<sup>3</sup>Only in hyperactive-impulsive ADHD

Abbreviations: NS: Novelty Seeking, HA: Harm Avoidance, RD: Reward Dependence, P: Persistence, SD: Self-Directedness, CO: Cooperativeness, ST: Self-Transcendence, TCI: Temperament and Character Inventory

#### 2.2.6 Summary of the literature on the risk factors for ADHD

Genes and male gender determine the risk for ADHD (Skogli et al., 2013; Uchida et al., 2021). Furthermore, previously well recognized prenatal risk factors for ADHD include prematurity, low birth weight (Franz et al., 2018) and maternal substance use (Knopik et al., 2019), including tobacco, alcohol (Einarson & Riordan, 2009), acetaminophen and SSRI exposure (Kim et al., 2020). In addition, there are findings that associate maternal pre-pregnancy obesity, gestational diabetes and pre-eclampsia with ADHD in the offspring (Kim et al., 2020). Postnatal environmental toxins are also widely identified risk factors for ADHD (Donzelli et al., 2019).

There is still very little research evidence available, however, and results are inconsistent regarding the direct causal connections between offspring ADHD and prenatal maternal inflammation, prenatal maternal stress, the duration of breastfeeding and the child's own personality. The well identified risk factors and those possibly associated with ADHD are summarized in Figure 3.



Fig. 3. The reliably identified early risk factors for ADHD include genetic basis, maternal pre-pregnancy obesity, maternal prenatal substance use, gestational diabetes, preeclampsia, prematurity, low birth weight, and environmental toxins. This study focuses on whether prenatal maternal inflammation and stress, duration of breastfeeding and personality are associated with offspring ADHD.

## 3 Aims of the research

This work carried out using prospectively collected data from the Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986 (NFBC1986) was aimed at detecting early risk factors for ADHD, which are as yet not fully understood. These factors include prenatal inflammation, prenatal maternal stress, breastfeeding and child's own temperament and character profiles.

The aims of this work were to study

- 1. Whether prenatal maternal inflammation is associated with offspring ADHD (I),
- 2. Whether prenatal maternal stress and unwanted pregnancy are associated with offspring ADHD (II),
- 3. Whether the duration of maternal breastfeeding is associated with offspring ADHD (II),
- 4. Whether there are differences in temperament and character between adolescents with and without ADHD (III), and
- 5. How internalizing and externalizing psychiatric comorbidities of ADHD are associated with temperament and character (III).

## 4 Materials and Methods

#### 4.1 Population and procedure

The population analysed here consisted of the Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986 (NFBC1986), a prospective mother-child cohort that includes 99 percent of all births that took place in the area concerned in the interval 1.7.1985-30.6.1986 (n=9,479, live births 9,432) (Järvelin et al., 1993; University of Oulu, 1986). In the first trimester of their pregnancy 8,785 mothers completed a questionnaire including information on fatigue (i.e. stress) during pregnancy and the desirability of the pregnancy. At the same time 7,094 of the mothers had their CRP analysed. When the offspring reached the age of one, their health clinic cards were collected and their mothers were asked to fill in a questionnaire concerning the duration of breastfeeding (n=3,255).

To study hyperactivity in the children, their teachers were asked to fill in the Rutter Children's Behaviour Questionnaire (Rutter B2, Rutter, 1967) at the age of 8 (n=8,721) (Taanila et al., 2004). Then, when the children reached the age of 16, their parents filled in the Strengths and Weaknesses of ADHD symptoms and Normal Behaviours (SWAN) questionnaire (Swanson et al., 2001) to detect possible ADHD symptoms (n=6,622). The capacity of the Rutter B2 for screening child psychiatric disturbances has been shown by Kresanov et al. (1998). Burton et al. (2019) has shown that SWAN scores distinguish ADHD participants with high sensitivity and specificity.

When NFBC1986 itself conducted a clinical ADHD study in which the participants for ADHD assessment were selected on the basis of the SWAN score, the probable ADHD cases invited to take part in the clinical examination (scoring above the 95th percentile of SWAN scores) and a random sample of adolescents scoring below the 90th percentile and matched with them as a group for gender, place of birth and age amounted to 261 cases, and 196 controls, 457 in total (Smalley et al., 2007). The clinical assessment included the Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children, Present and Lifetime Version (Kaufman et al., 1997) to determine the adolescents' ADHD and other psychopathology. During the visit to the clinic the adolescents also filled in the Temperament and Character Inventory (TCI) designed to assess their personality dimensions (n=402). The whole NFBC1986 data collection process is illustrated in Figure 4.



Fig. 4. Data collection for the Northern Finland 1986 Birth Cohort and the ADHD subsample.

#### 4.2 Instruments and measures

#### 4.2.1 Maternal data

The pregnancy and delivery data collected from the antenatal clinics covered 99% of all births in the area (n=9,479), and questionnaires for background information were given to all the mothers at their first antenatal visit and returned by them in

the 24th gestational week at the latest. The questionnaires included items concerning maternal age, occupation, education, BMI before pregnancy, marital status, and the desirability of the pregnancy. Maternal age was assigned to three categories in Study II: under 20 years, from 20 to 35 years and over 35 years. The educational status replies were also divided into two categories: parents without a high school diploma and parents with a high school, college, or university qualification, and the desirability of the pregnancy was similarly divided into two categories: "planned pregnancy" and "not planned or planned for later". For Study I the mothers' occupations were assigned to five categories: professional, skilled worker, unskilled worker, farmer or other/missing.

A questionnaire concerning information on the pregnancy was filled in by local midwives at the mother's last visit to the antenatal care unit or during the first home visit after the delivery. This questionnaire gathered information on maternal smoking and stress during pregnancy. The answers to the question concerning how stressed the mother had felt during the pregnancy were categorized in Study II into "ordinary or better than before" and "depressed". Information on the delivery and the sex of the child was forwarded by the delivery clinics to the child health clinics, which entered the data in their files (Järvelin et al., 1993).

Data on maternal C-reactive protein (CRP) were available from the Finnish Maternity Cohort of Northern Finland Biobank Borealis. One serum sample was obtained during the first or early second trimester of each pregnancy and stored as a single aliquot at -25C. CRP was measured on an Architect c8200 clinical chemistry analyser (Abbott Laboratories, Abbott Park, IL, USA) using a latex immunoassay. The coefficient of variation (mean  $\pm$  SD) of the test was 5.1%  $\pm$  2.3% and the assay sensitivity 0.10 mg/dL. CRP was used as both a continuous and a categorized variable (classification: <3, 3–10 and >10, with <3 mg/L as the reference level). This cut-off was chosen based on the American Heart Association and Centre for Disease Control and Prevention recommendations, which defined CRP levels of <3 mg/L as their reference level (Pearson et al., 2003). CRP measurements above 3 mg/L but below 10 mg/L were taken to represent low-grade inflammation and those over 10 mg/L a high inflammatory state (Rifai et al., 2003).

#### 4.2.2 1-year data and child health clinic data

Data concerning the children's growth, health and development were collected from the child health clinics at about one year of age, when their health clinic cards were collected and their mothers were asked to fill in a questionnaire on the duration of breastfeeding. Information from these sources, prioritizing the child health clinic card data, was used to determine the duration of exclusive and non-exclusive breastfeeding, after which two duration categories were formed: exclusive breastfeeding for under three months and three months or more and non-exclusive breastfeeding for under six months or six months or more. These categories were selected based on breastfeeding recommendations from the 1980's and previous studies that had used the same time points (Hasunen et al., 1989; Tseng et al. 2018).

#### 4.2.3 The Rutter Children's Behaviour Questionnaire

The Children's Behaviour Questionnaire developed by Rutter measures emotional and behavioural problems in childhood (Rutter, 1967). Symptoms of childhood hyperactivity were evaluated by the child's main teacher at eight years of age, when the teachers filled in a questionnaire that included the official Finnish translation of the Rutter scale B2 with 26 items. Three of the items measure hyperactivity, which was assessed for the present purposes in terms of the sum scores of these hyperactivity items (item 1, the child is restless, does not have the patience to sit down for a longish period of time, item 3, wriggles and is restless and item 16, is not able to concentrate on anything for a longish period of time). The items were scored as 0 (does not apply), 1 (applies somewhat) or 2 (certainly applies). Thus, the total score of the present hyperactivity items ranged from 0 to 6 and children were categorized as hyperactive if they scored more than 3 points (Taanila et al. 2004).

### 4.2.4 Strengths and Weaknesses of ADHD symptoms and Normal Behaviours (SWAN)

Strengths and Weaknesses of ADHD symptoms and Normal Behaviours (SWAN) is a questionnaire that measures problems in attention and hyperactivity (Swanson et al., 2001). The SWAN questionnaire is a modification of the Swanson, Nolan and Pelham (SNAP-IV) rating scale for ADHD and includes 18 items: 9 concerning hyperactive-impulsive symptoms and 9 concerning inattentive symptoms as described in DSM-5 (see Table 1) (APA, 2013). The symptoms are translated into statements which are rated on a 7-point scale anchored to average behaviour in the middle, rated as 0. Thus, each item is scored on a scale from -3 to +3. Strengths are rated as -1 (slightly above average), -2 (above average) and -3 (well above average) and problematic forms of behaviour as 1 (slightly below average), 2

(below average) and 3 (far below average). The ratings can be summed to yield summary scores, which can be used to determine the cut-off point for problems, for which Swanson recommends the highest 5th percentile (Swanson et al., 2012).

#### 4.2.5 Temperament and Character Inventory (TCI)

The Temperament and Character Inventory (TCI) is an instrument for personality assessment that was developed by C. Robert Cloninger (Cloninger et al., 1993). Cloninger describes a psychobiological model for the structure and development of personality that accounts for dimensions of both temperament and character (see Figure 2). It divides personality into seven dimensions: four for temperament and three for character. The dimensions can vary widely in the general population, rather than focusing only on pathology or abnormal traits.

The original TCI comprises 226 self-reported true-false items, and the number is increased to 240 in later versions. Also, Cloninger (1999) developed a new TCI-R version in which 240 items are answered on a five-point Likert scale (Farmer & Goldberg, 2008). The present NFBC1986 subsample participants filled in a TCI with 125 items during a visit to the clinic. This version of the Temperament and Character Inventory is a recognised, valid and reproducible tool used to measure seven components of personality (Svrakic et al., 1993), described in the following terms (abbreviation, number of items); novelty seeking (NS, 20), harm avoidance (HA, 20), reward dependence (RD, 15), self-transcendence (ST, 15), self-directedness (SD, 25), cooperativeness (CO, 25) and persistence (P, 5).

### 4.2.6 Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children, Present and Lifetime Version (K-SADS-PL)

The semi-structured diagnostic interview that is most commonly used in child psychiatry is the K-SADS-PL which is designed to correspond to the DSM-IV-TR. The interview is administered to both a parent and the child or adolescent and assesses current and past episodes of psychopathology in children and adolescents between ages of 6 and 18. The primary diagnoses assessed with the K-SADS-PL instrument include major depression, dysthymia, mania, hypomania, cyclothymia, bipolar disorders, schizoaffective disorders, schizophrenia, schizophreniform disorder, panic disorder, separation anxiety disorder, specific phobia, social phobia, generalized anxiety disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, ADHD, conduct disorder, oppositional defiant disorder, enuresis, encopresis, anorexia nervosa,

bulimia, Tourette's syndrome, motor or vocal tic disorder, substance abuse and dependence, post-traumatic stress disorder and adjustment disorders (Kaufman et al., 1997).

K-SADS-PL has been shown to be valid for DSM-IV-TR-based ADHD diagnosis among adolescents (Faraone et al., 2002), and the symptoms of DSM-5 ADHD are identical to those of DSM-IV-TR except for additional examples of how they may manifest themselves in adolescence and adulthood, and the reduction in of the minimum number of symptoms in either symptom domain from six to five in older adolescents and adults (Epstein & Loren, 2013). The adolescent diagnosis of ADHD was reached in accordance with the current ADHD symptoms of the adolescent and with the other criteria in the DSM-IV-TR (see Table 1) and the childhood diagnosis of ADHD in accordance with the parents' and children's retrospective recall of their childhood symptoms (from early childhood to the age of 12) and other criteria based on the interview. The diagnoses obtained in the interviews were classified in terms of ADHD and its presentations (inattentive, hyperactive/impulsive or both), depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, tic disorders, substance abuse disorders and behavioural disorders.

The original interviews and re-ratings in NFBC1986 had been performed with the personnel blinded to the SWAN diagnostic status, and the inter-site reliability, determined from the initial Best Estimate diagnosis established by the Finnish team and the final consensus diagnosis, was 0.87 for childhood ADHD (based on symptoms occurring by the age of 12) and 0.90 for current ADHD (age 16–18). The average kappa for the other psychiatric diagnoses was 0.94 (range 0.82–0.96) (Smalley et al., 2007).

#### 4.2.7 Other assessments and study variables

The sociodemographic factors at the age of 16 were determined by means of a further questionnaire in which the parents, for instance, were asked to describe the adolescent's behaviour and to answer questions on their marital (family structure) and social status and their education and work. Also, data from the national registers (Care Register for Health Care, CRHC) of maternal and parental psychiatric disorders (ICD-8 codes 290-315, ICD-9 codes 290–319 and ICD-10 F-codes) were included in Study II. These disorders were taken into account provided they had been diagnosed after 1972 and before the offspring reached the age of 8 in the 8-year follow-up or 16 in the 16-year follow-up. In addition, we extracted any diagnosed NDDs from the CRHC (ICD-8 codes 306.0, 306.2, 308.0 and 311–

319, ICD-9 codes 2990, 3072–3073, 3153 and 3170–3199 and ICD-10 codes F70– F79, F80, F84 and F95). CRHC is a national social and healthcare data collection and reporting system, and its data form a significant part of the national social and healthcare database. The information is used in many ways to guide and monitor social and healthcare activities (THL, 2023).

#### 4.3 Statistical methods

#### 4.3.1 Study I

Associations between prenatal maternal inflammation and offspring ADHD symptoms were investigated by means of logistic regression modelling (odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI)). The association was then evaluated using CRP as a continuous and categorized variable and four domains of ADHD symptoms: hyperactive symptoms on the Rutter scale, inattentive symptoms, hyperactive/impulsive symptoms, and combined symptoms on the SWAN scale. After assessing the crude models, adjustments were made using information on the mother's BMI and occupation before pregnancy and smoking during pregnancy (yes/no) and the sex of the child at birth.

#### 4.3.2 Study II

Associations between unwanted pregnancy, prenatal maternal fatigue, duration of breastfeeding and offspring ADHD symptoms were investigated using logistic regression and odds ratios (OR) were reported with 95% confidence intervals (CI). In the analyses of prenatal maternal fatigue and unwanted pregnancy the ADHD symptoms were divided into four categories: hyperactivity symptoms at the age of 8 and hyperactive-impulsive, inattentive and combined ADHD symptoms at the age of 16. The analyses of breastfeeding employed the Rutter B2 scale for hyperactivity symptoms at the age of 8 and the SWAN symptom category for 16-year-olds with inattentive and/or hyperactive-impulsive symptoms. In then further analyses, i.e. those of the associations between unwanted pregnancy, prenatal maternal fatigue and continuance of the ADHD symptoms (hyperactivity symptoms) only at the age of 8, positive ADHD symptoms only at the age of 16 (inattentive and/or hyperactive-impulsive symptoms) and positive ADHD symptoms at both time points.

Both the crude models those adjusted with reference to the gender of the offspring, the mother's high school education, the mother's age at the time of the pregnancy and maternal psychiatric disorders. In addition, the model was adjusted for the desirability of the pregnancy and maternal prenatal fatigue, and the adjusted supplementary tables also included the parents' marital status. The frequencies of the sociodemographic factors in the offspring grouped by ADHD symptoms were reported and comparisons made using Pearson's chi-square test ( $\chi 2$ ).

#### 4.3.3 Study III

The associations between the ADHD and TCI subscales, types of psychiatric comorbidity and TCI subscales in the ADHD cases and controls, ADHD presentations and TCI subscales were tested with Analyses of covariance (ANCOVAs). All the ANCOVA analyses were adjusted for gender and F-values with their p-values are reported. Tukey's post-hoc pairwise comparisons were also made between the types of psychiatric comorbidity and the TCI subscale and significant differences are reported. In addition, standardized mean differences (Cohen's d) were calculated for the comparisons between the ADHD and TCI subscales, the results of which were reported together with 95% CIs.

The frequencies of the sociodemographic factors and comorbidities in adolescence with or without ADHD are reported and comparisons are made using Pearson's chi-square test ( $\chi$ 2). Means with standard deviations (SD) on each TCI subscale were reported for the ADHD cases and controls, for each type of psychiatric comorbidity and for each mode of ADHD presentation.

#### 4.4 Ethical considerations and personal involvement

The NFBC1986 cohort study was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Ostrobothnia Hospital District in Oulu. After receiving a complete account of the research, all the non-neonate participants gave their written informed consent to the epidemiological and clinical examinations. All the cohort members have the right to refuse to allow their data to be used at any time, and those who denied permission in this way were excluded from the population.

The author of this thesis joined the research group in 2019 in order to write a licentiate thesis in medicine and was accepted as a member of the University of Oulu Graduate School in late 2020. She participated in designing the use of the statistical methods in the three original studies included here and was responsible

for all the presentations of the methods and results and for writing the three original studies and this thesis. In addition, the author has been the first and corresponding author of all the original publications, wrote the first and final drafts of the manuscripts and coordinated the submissions, revisions and resubmissions of the original publications.

## 5 Results

#### 5.1 Characteristics of the samples

The samples varied to some extent between the three studies. In the 8-year followup 630 subjects met the criteria for hyperactive symptoms, representing 7.4% of the offspring with Rutter B2 questionnaire information available, and 27% of these also showed ADHD symptoms at the age of 16. Overall, 579 cases (8.0%) were identified by the SWAN instrument in the 16-year follow-up, 150 with combined ADHD symptoms, 130 with inattentive ADHD and with 299 hyperactiveimpulsive symptoms. Based on the SWAN scores, 261 cases had completed the clinical assessment and 105 had been diagnosed with ADHD.

The results of this study showed that males more often had hyperactive symptoms at the age of 8 (boys 13.3%, girls 3.0%, p<0.001), and they similarly, showed more ADHD symptoms in all of the symptom domains at the 16-year follow-up than did the females. The percentages of males and females among the diagnosed ADHD cases were 60.6% and 39.4%, respectively (p=0.081). Moreover, the ADHD cases showed more depressive, behavioural and substance abuse disorders than the controls, but there was no significant difference with respect to anxiety disorders.

The prevalence of NDDs was low in this population. as 27 cases in the control group (0.3%) met the criteria for intellectual disability in the 8-year-follow-up, 23 (0.3%) for ASD, 43 (0.6%) for language impairment and 8 (0.1%) for tic disorders. Taken together, these represented 1.2% of the offspring meeting the criteria for further analyses. The group showing hyperactive symptoms had more NDDs than did the control group (4.9%), and the results were similar in the 16-year-follow-up: 1.0% of the control group, 4.7% of the group with combined ADHD symptoms, 6.9% of those with inattentive symptoms and 3.7% of those with hyperactive-impulsive symptoms had NDDs.

Comparing the parental factors, the ADHD case and control groups did not differ in terms of their parents' marital status (p=0.153), but the parents of the control cases were better educated than those of the ADHD cases, as they more often had a high school or college education. Also, the children whose mothers had given birth under the age of 20 more often had hyperactive symptoms at the age of 8 and inattentive symptoms at the age of 16 (p<0.001). The mothers of the adolescents aged 16 with combined ADHD symptoms (p=0.013) or inattention

symptoms (p < 0.001) presented with more psychiatric disorders than those in the control group. Paternal psychiatric disorders were not associated with any ADHD symptoms in either follow-up.

#### 5.2 Prenatal maternal inflammation and offspring ADHD

In the 8-year follow-up of 5,998 participant mothers 3,612 (60.2%) were found to have had a CRP level under 3, 1,819 (30.3%) a level from 3 to 10 and 567 (9.5%) a level over 10 early in their pregnancy. Similarly, 2,920 of the 4,832 participant mothers in the 16-year follow up (60.4%) had had a CRP level under 3, 1,466 (30.3%) had had a level from 3 to 10 and 446 (9.2%) had had a level over 10 during the pregnancy.

The results show that there was no association between maternal exposure to elevated CRP in pregnancy and the occurrence of ADHD symptoms in the offspring. We further tested for independent associations between these findings by adjusting for the sex of the offspring and the mother's occupation, smoking during pregnancy and BMI before pregnancy. The associations between maternal CRP and offspring ADHD symptoms on the Rutter hyperactive scale at the age of 8 and the SWAN scales at the age of 16 are shown in Table 4.

Table 4. Logistic regression analyses examining the association between maternal CRP as a continuous variable and ADHD symptom domains. (Modified from study I  $\textcircled{\mbox{\sc springer Nature.}}$ 

CRP	Hyperactive	Inattentive ADHD	Hyperactive-	Combined ADHD
	symptoms at age 8	symptoms at age 16	impulsive ADHD	symptoms at age 16
			symptoms at age 16	i
Crude OR (CI)	0.99 (0.97–1.01)	0.97 (0.95–1.00)	0.99 (0.97–1.01)	0.98 (0.96–1.01)
Adjusted OR <sup>a</sup> (CI)	0.99 (0.97–1.00)	0.97 (0.95–1.00)	0.99 (0.96–1.01)	0.98 (0.96–1.01)

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for sex, mother's occupation, mother's smoking during pregnancy and mother's BMI before pregnancy. OR=Odds ratio, CI=Confidence interval

We further investigated whether there was any difference between maternal lowgrade inflammation (CRP value from 3 to 10) and high-grade inflammation (CRP value over 10) in relation to ADHD in the offspring, but there was no evidence of any association. The results of the logistic regression are shown in Figure 5.



Fig. 5. Logistic regression analyses showing the association (odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals) between high and low maternal CRP and ADHD symptom domains. (From study I © Springer Nature.)

#### 5.3 Prenatal maternal stress and offspring ADHD

The findings showed an association between prenatal fatigue and an increased risk of combined ADHD symptoms at the age of 16, although fatigue was not associated with any specific ADHD symptom. This association was evident from the crude model and remained significant after adjustment (OR 1.88, 95% CI 1.26–2.77). Similarly, a history of unwanted pregnancy was significantly more frequent among the children with hyperactivity than in the control subjects (OR 2.08, 95% CI 1.55–2.77). The groups defined by the desirability of the pregnancy did not differ in 16-year follow-up, however. These pregnancy-related factors are shown in Table 5.

Table 5. Logistic regression analyses examining the associations between unwanted pregnancy, prenatal maternal fatigue, and ADHD symptoms at the ages of 8 and 16 in the crude and adjusted models. (Modified from study II © Springer Nature.)

Risk factors	Hyperactive	Inattentive ADHD	Hyperactive-	Combined ADHD
	symptoms at age 8	symptoms at age	impulsive ADHD	symptoms at age
		16	symptoms at age	16
			16	
Unwanted pregnancy				
Crude OR (95% CI)	2.17 (1.67–2.78)**	1.51 (0.76–2.72)	0.90 (0.52–1.44)	1.13 (0.57–2.02)
Adjusted OR (95% CI)	2.08 (1.55–2.77)**	1.43 (0.65–2.80)	0.74 (0.39–1.30)	1.01 (0.47–1.94)
Fatigue				
Crude OR (95% CI)	0.87 (0.69–1.08)	1.09 (0.67–1.71)	1.00 (0.72–1.35)	1.95 (1.34–2.80)**
Adjusted OR (95% CI)	0.78 (0.61–1.00)	1.34 (0.97–1.84)	1.02 (0.73–1.41)	1.88 (1.26–2.77)*

\* p-value<0.05 \*\*p -value<.001

Adjusted for the desirability of the pregnancy, maternal prenatal fatigue, gender of the offspring, mother's education level, mother's age at the time of labour, and maternal psychiatric disorders. OR = odds ratio, CI = confidence interval.

Furthermore, the observations regarding maternal age, fatigue and unwanted pregnancies were that mothers aged over 35 years were more often fatigued than those under 35 years and that those aged under 20 years had more unwanted pregnancies than did the older mothers (Table 6).

Risk Factors	yes/no	Maternal age during labour		g labour	χ2
		<20	20–35	>35	p–value
n		239	5783	751	
fatigue (%)	no	147 (79.9)	3764 (78.8)	431 (70.2)	<0.001
	yes	37 (20.1)	1011 (21.2)	183 (29.8)	
n		239	5783	751	
unwanted preg. (%)	no	142 (70.6)	4743 (93.5)	595 (93.3)	<0.001
	yes	59 (29.4)	330 (6.5)	43 (6.7)	

Table 6. Logistic regression analyses examining the association between maternal age during labour, fatigue, and unwanted pregnancy. (Modified from study II © Springer Nature.)

#### 5.4 Breastfeeding and ADHD

Of the 3,255 mothers who exclusively breastfed their child, 578 (21.8%) did so for less than three months and 2,072 (78,2%) for over three months, the corresponding values for non-exclusive breastfeeding under and over six months being 970 (43.6%) and 1,257 (56.4%), respectively. Over three months of exclusive breastfeeding was associated with less frequent symptoms of pronounced hyperactivity in the 8-year follow-up, even after adjustment (OR 0.58, 95% CI 0.40–0.85), but there was no significant association in the case of non-exclusive breastfeeding (OR 0.76, 95% CI 0.54–1.06). In addition, less than six months of non-exclusive breastfeeding was associated with a small but statistically significant increase in ADHD symptoms in the 16-year follow-up (OR 0.65, 95% CI 0.44–0.95). The relevant crude and adjusted breastfeeding models are shown in Table 7.

Table 7. Logistic regression analyses examining the associations of exclusive and non-
exclusive breastfeeding with ADHD symptoms at the ages of 8 and 16 years. (Modified
from study II © Springer Nature.)

Breastfeeding	Hyperactive symptoms at age 8	Any ADHD symptoms at age 16
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Exclusive breastfeeding		
Crude models		
Breastfeeding ≥ 3 months	0.65 (0.46–0.92)*	1.00 (0.66–1.55)
Adjusted models		
Breastfeeding ≥ 3 months	0.58 (0.40–0.85)*	1.17 (0.73–1.94)
Non-exclusive breastfeeding	9	
Crude models		

Breastfeeding	Hyperactive symptoms at age 8	Any ADHD symptoms at age 16
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Breastfeeding ≥ 6 months	0.76 (0.54–1.06)	0.68 (0.48–0.95)*
Adjusted models		
Breastfeeding ≥ 6 months	0.79 (0.54–1.16)	0.65 (0.44–0.95)*

\* p-value<0.05 \*\*p -value<.001

Adjusted for gender of the offspring and mother's high school (HS) education. OR = odds ratio, CI = confidence interval

Further analyses comparing the difference between the outcomes of ADHD symptoms in both follow-ups with sociodemographic factors, prenatal maternal fatigue, unwanted pregnancy and the duration of breastfeeding showed that prenatal maternal fatigue and female gender were risk factors for developing ADHD symptoms later in life and for showing such symptoms only at the age of 16 as compared with the individuals who showed ADHD symptoms in both follow-ups or only at the age of 8 (Table 8).

Table 8. Logistic regression analyses examining associations between positive ADHD symptoms in both 8- and 16-year-olds in relation to positive ADHD symptoms only at the age of 8 or 16. (Modified from study II © Springer Nature.)

Risk factors	Positive ADHD symptoms only at	Positive ADHD symptoms only at
	age 8	age 16
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Crude models		
Unwanted pregnancy	1.21 (0.62–2.51)	0.58 (0.28–1.22)
Fatigue	1.24 (0.70–2.30)	1.68 (0.97–3.04)
Adjusted models		
Unwanted pregnancy	1.84 (0.79–4.80)	0.83 (0.35–2.14)
Fatigue	1.27 (0.67–2.49)	1.91 (1.04–3.70)*
Gender (female ref.)	0.96 (0.49–1.80)	0.36 (0.19–0.63)*
Only primary education	1.03 (0.59–1.84)	1.32 (0.76–2.35)
Married	2.14 (0.62–7.09)	1.78 (0.53–5.59)
Mother's age		
<20	1.36 (0.45–3.78)	1.84 (0.63–4.98)
>35	1.44 (0.41–4.99)	1.18 (0.34–4.06)

\* p-value<0.05

Adjusted for the desirability of the pregnancy, maternal prenatal fatigue, gender of the offspring, mother's education, mother's age at the time of labour, parents' marital status, and maternal psychiatric disorders. OR = odds ratio, CI = confidence interval.

Furthermore, an association was found between non-exclusive breastfeeding and prenatal maternal fatigue. Pregnant women who experienced fatigue were more likely to breastfeed non-exclusively for a shorter duration than those who did not experience fatigue. When the combined effect of prenatal maternal fatigue, unwanted pregnancy and breastfeeding on ADHD symptoms was examined, non-exclusive breastfeeding was no longer associated with ADHD symptoms at the age of 16. These results are shown in Table 9.

Table 9. Logistic regression analyses examining the combined effect of prenatal maternal fatigue, unwanted pregnancy and breastfeeding duration on hyperactivity symptoms at the age of 8 and ADHD symptoms at the age of 16. (Modified from study II © Springer Nature.)

Risk factors	Any ADHD symptoms at age 16	Hyperactive symptoms at age 8
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
Exclusive breastfeeding		
Crude models		
Breastfeeding ≥ 3 months	1.00 (0.66–1.55)	0.65 (0.46–0.92)*
Adjusted models		
Breastfeeding ≥ 3 months	1.32 (0.78–2.37)	0.62 (0.41–0.95)*
Gender (female ref.)	1.81 (1.19–2.78)*	3.56 (2.33-5.59)**
Unwanted pregnancy	1.00 (0.38–2.19)	1.83 (0.94–3.31)
Fatigue	1.35 (0.82–2.16)	0.97 (0.58–1.55)
Mother without a HS diploma	1.69 (1.05–2.66)*	0.76 (0.47–1.21)
Non-exclusive breastfeeding		
Crude models		
Breastfeeding ≥ 6 months	0.68 (0.48–0.95)*	0.76 (0.54–1.06)
Adjusted models		
Breastfeeding ≥ 6 months	0.65 (0.42–1.01)	0.78 (0.51–1.19)
Gender (female ref.)	1.77 (1.15–2.79)*	3.76 (2.35–6.25)**
Unwanted pregnancy	1.32 (0.53–2.83)	2.53 (1.33-4.54)*
Fatigue	1.22 (0.73–1.99)	0.60 (0.33–1.04)
Mother without a HS diploma	0.95 (0.55–1.58)	1.09 (0.66–1.75)

\* p-value<0.05 \*\*p -value<0.001

Adjusted for gender of the offspring, mother's education level, and mother's age at the time of labour. OR = odds ratio, CI = confidence interval, HS = high school.

#### 5.5 Temperament, character, and ADHD

Two temperament traits, high novelty seeking (Cohen's d 0.58, 95% CI 0.34–0.83, p<0.001) and low persistence (Cohen's d -0.36, 95% CI -0.61–-0.12, p=0.003), were associated with ADHD in adolescence, while on the character dimension the ADHD cases were less self-directed (Cohen's d -0.47, 95% CI -0.71–-0.23), p<0.001) and cooperative (Cohen's d -0.66, 95% CI -0.91–-0.41, p<0.001) than the controls. These tendencies were found in both the crude and adjusted models, but no significant differences in harm avoidance, reward dependence or self-transcendence were found between the groups. All the associations are presented in Table 10.

Table 10. Mean associations of the Temperament and Character Inventory subscales and with a diagnosis of ADHD as seen in ANCOVA. (Modified from study III © Taylor & Francis Group.)

Temperament and	ADHD in a	adolescence		
character dimensions	Cases, n=85	Cases, n=85 Controls, n=292		
	Mean (sd)	Mean (sd)	Cohen's d (95% CI)	F (P-value) *
Novelty seeking (NS)	12.50 (3.85)	10.33 (3.69)	0.58 (0.34–0.83)	22.47 (<0.001)
Harm avoidance (HA)	8.27 (4.55)	8.25 (4.12)	0.00 (-0.24–0.25)	0.00 (0.969)
Reward dependence (RD)	8.68 (2.53)	9.16 (2.46)	-0.19 (-0.43–0.05)	2.64 (0.105)
Persistence (P)	1.53 (1.37)	2.07 (1.53)	-0.36 (-0.610.12)	9.10 (0.003)
Self-directedness (SD)	14.37 (4.74)	16.58 (4.70)	-0.47 (-0.710.23)	14.6 (<0.001)
Cooperativeness (CO)	15.74 (3.82)	17.85 (3.00)	-0.66 (-0.910.41)	29.09 (<0.001)
Self-transcendence (ST)	4.92 (2.74)	5.42 (2.85)	-0.18 (-0.42–0.06)	2.08 (0.151)

\*Adjusted for gender. sd = standard deviation.

Examination of the associations between ADHD presentation and the temperament and character profiles revealed that the ADHD cases of the hyperactive-impulsive type was more persistent than those of the inattentive type (p<0.001) (see Table 11). The remaining temperament and character profiles did not show any significant differences between the ADHD cases and controls.

Table 11. Mean associations of the Temperament and Character Inventory subscales with the modes of ADHD presentations as seen in ANCOVA. (Modified from study III @ Taylor & Francis Group.)

Temperament and		ADHD presentation		
character dimensions	Combined, n=21	Inattentive, n=57	Hyperactive, n=7	
	Mean (sd)	Mean (sd)	Mean (sd)	F (P-value)*
Novelty seeking (NS)	12.13 (3.78)	12.60 (3.85)	12.80 (4.54)	0.14 (0.873)
Harm Avoidance (HA)	7.91 (4.60)	8.82 (4.53)	4.86 (3.23)	2.68 (0.075)
Reward dependence (RD)	8.56 (2.05)	8.83 (2.69)	7.86 (2.61)	0.58 (0.565)
Persistence (P)	2.10 (1.51)	1.18 (1.17)	2.71 (1.38)	8.00 (<0.001)
Self-directedness (SD)	14.70 (4.57)	13.88 (4.77)	17.30 (4.41)	1.74 (0.182)
Cooperativeness (C)	15.07 (4.21)	15.92 (3.87)	16.33 (1.82)	0.48 (0.621)
Self-Transcendence (ST)	5.29 (2.85)	4.56 (2.62)	6.71 (2.87)	2.24 (0.113)

\*Adjusted for gender, TCI = Temperament and Character Inventory

#### 5.6 Psychiatric comorbidities, temperament and character

Associations of the temperament profiles with internalizing and externalizing psychiatric disorders were found in both the ADHD cases and the controls. The groupings of ADHD cases in terms of psychiatric comorbidity (none, externalizing disorder, internalizing disorder, both) differed in their self-directedness scores (p=0.035), indicating that the ADHD cases with internalizing comorbidity were less self-directed than the other groups. There were no statistically significant differences in the relations of the other temperament and character profiles to psychiatric comorbidity in the ADHD cases, the controls with both externalizing and internalizing disorders were found to be more novelty-seeking and harm-avoiding and less self-directed than the other groups. The results are shown in Table 12.

Temperament and Type of Comorbidity					
character dimensions	Both	Externalizing	Internalizing	None	
	n=15	n=16	n=9	n=45	
	Mean (sd)	Mean (sd)	Mean (sd)	Mean (sd)	F (p-value)*
ADHD cases					
Novelty seeking (NS)	13.60 (3.38)	12.22 (3.76)	10.37 (4.50)	12.66 (3.84)	1.36 (0.261)
Harm avoidance (HA)	7.53 (4.00)	8.56 (3.82)	11.89 (6.15) <sup>a</sup>	7.69 (4.39)	2.59 (0.059)
Reward dependence (RD)	8.56 (2.88)	8.07 (2.51)	9.76 (2.36)	8.73 (2.46)	0.82 (0.486)
Persistence (P)	1.13 (1.41)	1.81 (1.47)	1.11 (1.27)	1.64 (1.33)	0.70 (0.557)
Self-directedness (SD)	12.49 (4.99)	15.97 (4.09)	11.16 (6.51)	15.06 (4.09)	3.01 (0.035)
Cooperativeness (C)	14.59 (4.60)	14.72 (3.57)	18.03 (3.64)	16.03 (3.53)	2.14 (0.102)
Self-transcendence (ST)	5.04 (2.16)	5.00 (3.08)	5.40 (3.27)	4.75 (2.75)	0.14 (0.932)
ADHD controls	n=5	n=27	n=40	n=220	
Novelty seeking (NS)	13.60 (3.58)	11.85 (4.42)	9.80 (3.05)	10.16 (3.65)	3.36 (0.019)
Harm avoidance (HA)	12.00 (3.16)	7.26 (4.47)	10.69 (4.06) <sup>b</sup>	7.84 (3.92)	6,66 (<0.001)
Reward dependence (RD)	8.40 (4.04)	8.89 (2.42)	9.14 (2.23)	9.21 (2.47)	0.56 (0.639)
Persistence (P)	1.20 (1.30)	1.81 (1.80)	2.00 (1.54)	2.14 (1.49)	0.79 (0.501)
Self-directedness (SD)	9.80 (5.54) <sup>c,d</sup>	16.37 (5.22)	14.32 (4.85) <sup>e</sup>	17.17 (4.36)	8.13 (<0.001)
Cooperativeness (CO)	16.40 (3.36)	17.27 (3.29)	17.64 (2.97)	18.00 (2.96)	1.12 (0.343)
Self-transcendence (ST)	4.63 (2.67)	5.19 (2.64)	5.20 (2.78)	5.51 (2.90)	0.32 (0.808)

Table 12. Mean associations of the Temperament and Character Inventory subscales with comorbidities in the ADHD cases and controls as seen in ANCOVA. (Modified from study III © Taylor & Francis Group.)

\* Adjusted for gender

Significant post hoc Tukey when comparing the comorbidities:

<sup>a</sup> Comparison between None and Internalizing in the ADHD cases p<0.05

<sup>b</sup> Comparison between Internalizing and Externalizing in the controls p<0.01

<sup>c</sup> Comparison between Externalizing and Both in the controls p<0.05

<sup>d</sup> Comparison between None and Both in the controls p<0.01

<sup>e</sup> Comparison between None and Internalizing in the controls p<0.01

The results also showed that the ADHD cases with no comorbidities were more novelty seeking (p<0.001) and less persistent (p=0.02), self-directed (p=0.003) and cooperative (p<0.001) than the controls with no comorbidities (see Table 13). When comparing the ADHD cases and controls in the presence of comorbidities, the ADHD cases with an externalizing comorbidity showed less cooperativeness than the corresponding control group (p=0.016). Otherwise, the results did not show any statistically significant differences in the other temperament and character profiles.

Temperament and character dimensions	Both F (p-value)*	Externalizing F (p-value)*	Internalizing F (p-value)*	None F (p-value)*					
					Novelty seeking (NS)	0.00 (0.957)	0.07 (0.789)	0.50 (0.485)	18.09 (<0.001)
					Harm Avoidance (HA)	4.17 (0.057)	1.79 (0.188)	0.59 (0.446)	0.01 (0.944)
Reward dependence	0.16 (0.693)	0.81 (0.373)	1.25 (0.270)	0.75 (0.389)					
(RD)									
Persistence (P)	0.05 (0.823)	0.23 (0.635)	2.94 (0.093)	5.45 (0.020)					
Self-directedness (SD)	0.94 (0.345)	0.42 (0.520)	2.37 (0.131)	8.99 (0.003)					
Cooperativeness (C)	0.28 (0.605)	6.36 (0.016)	0.24 (0.629)	14.23 (<0.001)					
Self-Transcendence (ST)	0.19 (0.670)	0.08 (0.778)	0.03 (0.861)	2.76 (0.098)					

Table 13. Comparisons by ANCOVA of Temperament and Character Inventory subscales between ADHD cases and controls in different comorbidity groups. (Modified from study III © Taylor & Francis Group.)

\* Adjusted for gender

## 6 Discussion

#### 6.1 Main findings

The main findings regarding the relations between pregnancy and childhoodrelated factors and ADHD symptoms at the ages of 8 and 16 years, as summarized in Figures 6–8, point to associations between unwanted pregnancy and exclusive breastfeeding for less than 3 months with hyperactive symptoms at the age of 8. On the other hand, no connection was found between prenatal maternal inflammation, fatigue during pregnancy or non-exclusive breastfeeding for under 6 months and hyperactive symptoms in the 8-year-olds.



# Fig. 6. Associations between hyperactive symptoms and prenatal and postnatal factors at the age of 8.

Using logistic regression, the data showed associations between ADHD symptoms at the age of 16 and prenatal maternal fatigue and non-exclusive breastfeeding for under 6 months, but no such associations for unwanted pregnancy, high prenatal CRP or exclusive breastfeeding for under 3 months. Furthermore, a distinct personality profile for the child was associated with a diagnosis of ADHD in adolescence. The adolescents with ADHD were more often more novelty seeking and less self-directed, cooperative and persistent than the controls, but no differences existed with regard to harm avoidance, self-transcendence or reward dependence. These results are summarized in Figures 7 and 8.



Fig. 7. Associations between ADHD symptoms in adolescence and prenatal and postnatal factors.



Fig. 8. Associations between ADHD diagnosed in adolescence and the personality dimensions.

#### 6.2 Comparison with previous studies

#### 6.2.1 Prenatal maternal inflammation

No connection was found here between early pregnancy prenatal maternal inflammation and symptoms of ADHD in the offspring at the ages of 8 and 16, not even when the CRP values were grouped into low-grade inflammation (CRP from 3 to 10) and high-grade inflammation (CRP over 10).

These results are in line with those of a large Finnish register study using CRP as a biomarker for inflammation, which did not report any association with the risk of an ADHD diagnosis or with the load of ADHD symptoms (Chudal et al., 2020). That study used a case-control design and serum CRP collection took place at a

median gestational age of 10 weeks, so that the data should be relatively comparable to the sample collection in the present study, which was performed in gestational week 13. On the other hand, our results contrast with those presented in a Danish cohort study performed in 2023, where the CRP was obtained late in the second trimester (Rosenberg et al., 2023). The timing of inflammation could be of importance for the offspring's neurodevelopment, and thus can affect the results. CRP is a valid marker of inflammation and is widely used in clinical settings, but it is known to be an acute-phase reactant primarily synthesized in the liver in response to both infectious and non-infectious inflammation (Gabay, 1999).

Animal studies support a potential causal relationship between prenatal exposure to inflammation and behavioural changes in the offspring that are consistent with ADHD (Dunn et al., 2019), but there have as yet been no other studies in humans that have explored the association of prenatal maternal inflammation with offspring ADHD using CRP as a blood marker for inflammation. To the author's knowledge, only one study with clinical evaluations has investigated maternal inflammation during pregnancy in relation to childhood ADHD, and this reported that higher levels of cytokines (IL-6, TNF-a and MCP-1) were associated with the severity of ADHD symptoms in children at 4–6 years of age (Gustafsson et al., 2020).

Some of the risk factors indirectly suggest a role of prenatal maternal inflammation in the risk of developing ADHD. These include increased maternal body mass index and maternal infections (Han et al., 2021; Sanchez et al., 2018). In addition, previous studies have suggested that the possible association between prenatal maternal inflammation and ADHD offspring may be explained by prenatal maternal tobacco smoking and genitourinary infections, as a large number of studies support associations between these and offspring ADHD (Mann et al., 2010; Pineda, 2007).

#### 6.2.2 Prenatal maternal stress

Our findings showed an association between prenatal fatigue and an increased risk of combined ADHD symptoms at the age of 16, although fatigue was not associated with any other ADHD symptom in 8 or 16-year-olds. These results indicate that prenatal maternal stress is related to more severe forms of ADHD symptoms and may contribute to the development of symptoms that fulfil the diagnostic criteria for this disorder.

Earlier research into the association between prenatal maternal stress and ADHD-like behaviour or ADHD symptoms has not always been in agreement on this matter. Two earlier longitudinal studies support such an association (Huhtala et al., 2015; Ronald et al., 2011), while one large cohort study performed in 2018 refutes these results and suggests that the association between prenatal maternal stress and offspring ADHD may be largely explained by familiar factors (Rosenqvist et al., 2018). A meta-analysis published in 2019 (Manzari et al., 2019) showed that earlier cohort studies have found an association between maternal stress and diagnosed ADHD, but it should be noted that this present work is the first cohort study to find an association of ADHD with self-perceived maternal fatigue during pregnancy, while in previous instances the association has only been significant in male offspring or following maternal stress attributable to bereavement in the form of the unexpected death of a family member (Manzari et al., 2019).

Another risk factor for prenatal maternal mental health, an unwanted pregnancy, has not been widely studied, so that to the author's knowledge this is the first cohort study to include information on unwanted pregnancies. A negative attitude towards the pregnancy, such as the admission that it was unwanted, is a pregnancy-specific stressor that has been connected with poorer neurodevelopment in the offspring (De La Rochebrochard & Joshi, 2013) and psychiatric disorders later in life, including schizophrenia-spectrum and affective disorders (McNeil et al., 2009). There is one case-control study that has associated unwanted pregnancy with childhood ADHD (Golmirzaei et al., 2013).

#### 6.2.3 Breastfeeding

According to the meta-analysis of Tseng et al. (2018), the duration of breastfeeding – an important factor influencing emotional and neurological development – is associated with ADHD and results clearly demonstrate that the rate of ADHD is inversely proportional to the duration of both exclusive and non-exclusive breastfeeding. The present findings were not as definite as this, as an association existed only for a lower duration of exclusive breastfeeding with higher hyperactivity symptoms in 8-year-olds and for a lower duration of non-exclusive breastfeeding with ADHD symptoms in 16-year-olds. Although these findings are not in line with the meta-analysis, they correspond to two earlier observations that the distinction between exclusive and non-exclusive breastfeeding accounts for differences in the results (Say et al., 2016; Stadler et al., 2016).

Even so, most of the earlier literature suggests a clear relationship between ADHD and a lower rate of breastfeeding. If breastfeeding is associated causally with ADHD, its effect is likely to be part of an interplay between genotype and the environment. Several studies of ADHD have suggested that genetic and environmental risk factors may act together, giving rise to the theory that some genes may influence the development of ADHD by affecting the individual's sensitivity to environmental adversity, and that the long-term clinical course of ADHD is influenced by prenatal, biological and psychosocial environmental risk factors (Thapar et al., 2007; Waldman et al., 2007). In the light of these findings, our results indicate that the causal relationship between a short duration of breastfeeding and ADHD is unclear and can be explained by factors that are related to both the child and the mother. In our cohort study, the mothers in the ADHD symptom groups more often had a lower level of education or a diagnosis of a psychiatric disorder, both of which are well-known risk factors connected with ADHD in an offspring (Spencer et al., 2022) and attributable to a short duration of breastfeeding (Demirtas et al., 2012).

#### 6.2.4 Temperament and character

Our data revealed differences in both temperament and character between the adolescent ADHD cases and the healthy controls, in that high novelty seeking, for example, was associated with a diagnosis of ADHD. Novelty seeking is connected with rule violation, impulsivity and unsafe forms of behaviour. Individuals with high novelty seeking tend to be unorganized, impatient and easily agitated (Cloninger et al., 1997). According to previous studies, novelty seeking is associated with ADHD (Anckarsäter et al., 2006; Cho et al., 2008; Faraone et al., 2009; He et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2016; Melegari et al., 2015; Merwood et al., 2013; Perroud et al., 2016; Pinzone et al., 2019) and is the present findings are in line with this. In particular, hyperactivity presentation is known to be specifically associated with novelty seeking (Rettew et al., 2004; Salgado et al., 2009), although not all studies support such a difference between the ADHD presentations (Merwood et al., 2013). We did not, however, find any differences in novelty seeking between the hyperactive-impulsive and inattentive types of ADHD.

The low persistence level shown by the individuals diagnosed with ADHD was to be expected on the basis of findings in previous studies (Faraone et al., 2009; He et al., 2019, Melegari et al., 2015; Perroud et al., 2016; Pinzone et al., 2019), and when comparing the ADHD presentations, we were inclined to associate lower

persistence scores with inattentive rather than hyperactive ADHD, consistent with the observation of Merwood et al. (2013). This emphasizes the fact that adolescents with attention problems tend to give up easily on the tasks that are given to them.

The observation that the self-directedness and cooperativeness levels of the ADHD group were significantly lower than those of the control group concur with those of Melegari et al. (2015) and Pinzone et al. (2019). Individuals with high self-directedness are goal-oriented and constructive, while cooperativeness is a tendency to be sympathetic to and cooperative with other people (Cloninger et al., 1997).

On the other hand, we did not find any association between ADHD and high harm avoidance or self-transcendence. Harm avoidance is a tendency to inhibit or discourage dangerous acts (Cloninger, 1993). There have been a few previous reports of high harm avoidance and/or self-transcendence in connection with ADHD in early childhood or in adulthood (Anckarsäter et al., 2006; He et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2016; Melegari et al., 2015; Perroud et al., 2016), and the setting for the present study differed in this respect, a fact that may have played a vital role regarding comparison of the results. Children may be more hyperactive in early childhood but their character tends modify with age, making evaluation of the outcomes difficult in different age settings. Furthermore, earlier authors have speculated that higher harm avoidance seems to be due to higher rates of comorbid anxiety, affective disorders, or substance use disorders (Marquez-Arrico et al., 2016). It was also possible to take comorbidity concerns into account in the present work.

#### 6.2.5 Psychiatric comorbidity, temperament, and character

Research has increasingly become focused on the significance of internalizing symptoms and externalizing behaviour in ADHD, and it has been speculated that the presence of such problems may be an indicator of potentially different aetiological risk factors as well as different outcomes (Gillberg et al., 2004). It was found above that the ADHD cases had depressive, behavioural and substance abuse disorders and either externalizing disorders or both internalizing and externalizing disorders, more often than did the controls, and previous studies are in line with these findings, as internalization problems and externalizing behaviour, in particular substance use and behavioural disorders, have proved to be frequent in adolescent ADHD patients (Katzman et al., 2017).

One recent study concerning the association between personality profiles and internalizing and externalizing symptoms in adolescents with ADHD concluded that the combination of ADHD and specific personality traits explained a significant proportion of the variance between coexisting internalizing and externalizing disorders (Deotto et al., 2022), observing that young people who ranked high on internalizing symptoms were significantly higher in harm avoidance and lower in self-directedness, while those who were high on externalizing behaviour were significantly lower in cooperativeness. The present findings point to similar results as well, as the comorbidity types differed in their novelty seeking and harm avoidance scores in controls and in their self-directedness scores in a similar manner in both the ADHD cases and the controls. Personality traits and characteristics, especially low self-directedness, have been linked to functional impairments even after controlling for ADHD symptoms, executive function deficits and current psychiatric comorbidities (He et al., 2019). It may be said that personality traits give rise to unique associations with the quality of life and functional impairment in adolescents with and without ADHD across the whole span of major life domains.

Furthermore, the results presented here have shown that, when comparing personality traits and psychiatric comorbidities in the ADHD cases, those with no comorbidities were more novelty seeking and less persistent, self-directed and cooperative than those with any comorbidity. These findings indicate that comorbidities do not show any particular association with temperament and character profiles in ADHD cases, but rather that distinct personality traits separate the ADHD cases from the healthy controls and from persons with the other psychiatric disorders considered here. This could have implications for modifying intervention efforts based on these profiles in adolescents with ADHD, and, since temperament is fairly consistent throughout life, these results can be applied to earlier diagnoses of ADHD.

#### 6.3 Methodological discussion

#### 6.3.1 Strengths of the study

This work has a number of evident strengths. NFBC1986 is one of the largest birth cohorts with high genetic and ethnic homogeneity, allowing diagnostic variables to be elucidated by valid methods. It includes all the births in the area, contrary to

register-based studies, which take into account only those who seek treatment for impairing symptoms of ADHD. In addition, being a large general population-based birth cohort with excellent participation rates, the results are widely generalizable to white-Caucasian populations and largely free of recall and selection biases.

Also, it was possible to use the symptom domains of ADHD as well as the numbers of diagnosed ADHD cases when assessing the associations between the early risk factors and ADHD, which enabled us to determine whether the inattentive and hyperactive-impulsive types of ADHD accounted for different outcomes. This is a major strength, since only a few previous studies have been able to consider the ADHD symptom domains.

The choice of the NFBC1986 cohort enabled the use of reliable child health clinic data for extracting information on breastfeeding and the inclusion of information on unwanted pregnancies in Study II. This is to the author's knowledge the first cohort study to include information on unwanted pregnancies.

Another strength lay in the inclusion of covariates. Altogether it became possible to include information on maternal age, BMI before pregnancy, smoking during pregnancy, maternal education, mother's occupation, parental marital status, parental and the offspring's psychiatric disorders and the gender of the offspring. These are all important factors that can increase the risk of the offspring developing ADHD.

#### 6.3.2 Limitations

The limitations of this study were the following. Firstly, as the sample was homogeneous, it may not be generalizable to other populations of a different kind. Secondly, information on parental ADHD symptoms was lacking, whereas ADHD is known to be a highly heritable disorder. Thirdly, only hyperactivity symptoms could be measured at the age of eight, and these may have be mingled with other symptoms besides those of ADHD, although it was admittedly found that the ADHD hyperactivity symptoms identified at the age of 8 correlated with all the ADHD symptom domains observed at the age of 16. Fourthly, participants with NDDs were not excluded, although it must be said that there were only a few participants with diagnosed NDD and excluding them would not have affected the results.

In addition, there were some limitations that applied separately to each of the studies. The first study lacked information on maternal infection and CRP in the last trimester and on the birthweight of the child, and in the second we were unable
to include those infants who had not been breastfed at all. In addition, fatigue is not the best estimate for stress, and it should be noted that it is distinct from stress even though strongly associated with it (Kop & Kupper, 2016). Unwanted pregnancy is also highly loaded for impulsivity and hence the genetic risk for the mother with respect to the outcome. Furthermore, the experience of fatigue for pregnant women in the 1980's may have been different from what is experienced in contemporary society and the reports of fatigue from that time may have been underestimated. Lastly, more than 10% of the data on variables related to unwanted pregnancy, fatigue and maternal education were missing, possibly as a result of some questionnaires being lost. This loss is probably coincidental and its effect on the results is small. In the case of Study III, many of the tests performed on the clinical features of ADHD involved the use of relatively small samples, which would have greatly reduced the possibility of detecting small influences.

## 7 Conclusions

### 7.1 Main conclusions

The research reported here represents one of the first, and to date the most representative, of the investigations carried out into the early risk factors for ADHD. Its conclusions indicate that prenatal maternal fatigue and unwanted pregnancy can increase the risk of ADHD symptoms in the offspring and suggest that prenatal maternal fatigue is related to more severe forms of ADHD symptoms and may contribute to the development of symptoms that fulfil the diagnostic criteria for ADHD. One negative conclusion to arise is that prenatal maternal inflammation via an increase in CRP is not a risk factor for ADHD symptoms in the offspring.

As for postnatal risk factors, it can be assumed that the duration of breastfeeding is associated with ADHD symptoms but that its effect is not direct but rather part of an interplay with genotype and the environment. Also, the research revealed differences in both temperament and character between the adolescent ADHD cases and the healthy controls. Low persistence, cooperativeness and self-directedness scores and high novelty seeking scores were associated with a diagnosis of ADHD in adolescence. The findings further indicated that comorbidities do not particularly show an association with the temperament and character profiles of ADHD cases, but rather that distinct personality traits separate the ADHD cases from the healthy controls and from the other psychiatric disorders considered in this context.

Considering the overall situation, the task of protecting fetal, infant and early childhood growth provides a window of opportunity for preventing ADHD in the offspring, and the factors mentioned above may play a role in the diagnosis of ADHD in the future.

### 7.2 Early risk factors for ADHD and the implications of the results

ADHD is associated with functional and psychosocial disability, leading to personal and societal costs. Its most prominent feature is attentional dysfunction, which is associated especially with impairment where sustained and focused attention is required (Bálint et al., 2009). Individuals with ADHD also experience neuropsychological difficulties associated with deficient inhibition, memory and decision making as well as with emotional dysregulation (Katzman et al., 2017).

ADHD is associated with educational difficulties and higher rates of academic suspension and dropouts (Jangmo et al., 2019). Later in life, adult ADHD has been associated with poorer driving and a higher incidence of traffic citations and motor vehicle accidents (Curry et al., 2017). This said, individuals with ADHD have been shown in Denmark to have a lower life expectancy and more than double the risk of untimely death than adults without ADHD (Dalsgaard et al., 2015). This was mostly attributed to accidental deaths and characteristics associated with ADHD, such as risk-taking behaviour.

The overlapping symptomology between ADHD other and neurodevelopmental, mood, anxiety, or substance use disorders poses certain barriers to diagnosis and treatment. Physicians are often more familiar with mood and anxiety disorders, which may contribute to misdiagnosis and delays in treating ADHD (Furzer et al., 2022). It has in fact been suggested that stress, depression and anxiety could manifest themselves because of undiagnosed and untreated ADHD (Alexander et al., 2013). In any case, the result is that many individuals with ADHD do not receive treatment for ADHD, but for comorbid mood disorders. Overall, these challenges have contributed to an under-diagnosis and undertreatment of ADHD in Europe (Sayal et al., 2018). Identifying risk factors for ADHD might be the most viable avenue for reducing the burden that it places on society.

The numbers of diagnoses of ADHD and the amounts of medication provided for it have increased significantly in Finland over recent years (THL, 2024), in addition to which there are clear regional differences in the prevalence of ADHD. This raises the question of how reliable its diagnosis currently is.

The most important clinical implications of the research reported here are primarily preventative. Identifying the risk factors for ADHD should allow for early detection of individuals with this condition, which may in turn enable us to apply targeted and timely interventions. In addition, these risk factors can guide the diagnosis of ADHD, which is still under-, over-, or misdiagnosed in different parts of the world (Thomas et al., 2015). The findings presented in this thesis suggest that interventions to protect prenatal maternal mental health and encourage mothers to accept to notion of breastfeeding may reduce individual ADHD risks in the offspring. Special attention should also be paid to children born from unwanted pregnancies. The second important implication is to guide future research and help narrow the wide field of study focused on risk factors in the early years of life.

Although ADHD is substantially a genetic disorder, the present results may help us understand more about the reasons for the risk factors underlying it. It is to be hoped that these findings will be beneficial when developing the diagnostics of ADHD and/or primary preventative measures.

### 7.3 Future research

This work has revealed that several developmental factors present in childhood may be markers for an increased risk of developing ADHD symptoms and of the diagnosis of this disorder during childhood or adolescence. For this reason it is crucial that there should be increased interest in research into prenatal and postnatal risk factors for ADHD in the future.

The present findings prompt further questions regarding the risk factors for ADHD. What parts do genetics, epigenetics and environmental aspects play in the accumulated risk for the individual? Does a causal pathway exist between the duration of breastfeeding and ADHD? What are the neurodevelopmental mechanisms behind the risk factors identified for ADHD? The results presented in this thesis highlight the need for future research to elucidate the pathways behind these observations. A better understanding of the relationship between pre- and postnatal development and ADHD may provide tools for targeting primary preventative measures for individuals who are particularly at risk. Also, some of the already known risk factors, including environmental lead and male gender, have not yet been meta-analysed and would undoubtedly yield additional information in the future.

Finally, one future research target would be to find better means of diagnosing ADHD. The present results arouse speculations regarding the use of the temperament and character dimensions of ADHD for this purpose, since these are strongly associated with ADHD.

## References

- Aarnoudse-Moens, C. S., Weisglas-Kuperus, N., van Goudoever, J. B., & Oosterlaan, J. (2009). Meta-analysis of neurobehavioral outcomes in very preterm and/or very low birth weight children. *Pediatrics*, 124(2), 717–728. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-2816.
- ADHD (aktiivisuuden ja tarkkaavuuden häiriö). Käypä hoito -suositus. (2019). Suomalaisen Lääkäriseuran Duodecimin, Suomen Lastenneurologinen yhdistys ry:n, Suomen Nuorisopsykiatrisen yhdistyksen ja Suomen Lastenpsykiatriyhdistyksen asettama työryhmä. 20.9.2023, www.käypähoito.fi.
- Ahuja, A., Martin, J., Langley, K., & Thapar, A. (2013). Intellectual disability in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 163(3), 890– 5.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.02.043
- Alexander, S. J., & Harrison, A. G. (2013). Cognitive responses to stress, depression, and anxiety and their relationship to ADHD symptoms in first year psychology students. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 17(1), 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054711413071.
- Alonso-Gonzalez, A., Calaza, M., Rodriguez-Fontenla, C., & Carracedo, A. (2019). Genebased analysis of ADHD using PASCAL: a biological insight into the novel associated genes. *BMC Medical Genomics*, 12(1), 143. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12920-019-0593-5.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). https://doi-org.ezproxy.frederick.edu/10.1176/appi.books. 9780890425596
- Anckarsäter, H., Stahlberg, O., Larson, T., Hakansson, C., Jutblad, S. B., Niklasson, L., Nydén, A., Wentz, E., Westergren, S., Cloninger, C. R., Gillberg, C., & Rastam, M. (2006). The impact of ADHD and autism spectrum disorders on temperament, character, and personality development. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163(7), 1239–1244. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.2006.163.7.1239.
- Anderson, J. W., Johnstone, B. M., & Remley, D. T. (1999). Breast-feeding and cognitive development: a meta-analysis. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 70(4), 525– 535. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/70.4.525.
- Ando, J., Suzuki, A., Yamagata, S., Kijima, N., Maekawa, H., Ono, Y., & Jang, K. L. (2004). Genetic and environmental structure of Cloninger's temperament and character dimensions. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 18(4), 379–393. https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.18.4.379.40345.
- Antshel, K. M., & Russo, N. (2019). Autism Spectrum Disorders and ADHD: Overlapping Phenomenology, Diagnostic Issues, and Treatment Considerations. *Current psychiatry* reports, 21(5), 34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-019-1020-5
- Askri, F., Aissa, A., Jedda, S., Zgueb, Y., & Ouali, U. (2023). The diagnostic issues of Adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): A systematic literature review. *European Psychiatry*, 66(Suppl 1), S952. https://doi.org/10.1192/j.eurpsy.2023.2018

- Austerman, J. (2015). ADHD and behavioral disorders: Assessment, management, and an update from DSM-5. *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*, 82(11 Suppl 1), S2–S7. https://doi.org/10.3949/ccjm.82.s1.01.
- Ayano, G., Yohannes, K., & Abraha, M. (2020). Epidemiology of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in children and adolescents in Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Annals of General Psychiatry*, 19, 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12991-020-00271-w.
- Bálint, S., Czobor, P., Komlósi, S., Mészáros, A., Simon, V., & Bitter, I. (2009). Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): gender- and age-related differences in neurocognition. *Psychological Medicine*, 39(8), 1337–1345. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291708004236.
- Barkley, R.A. (2006). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment. The Guilford Press.
- Beaton, D. M., Sirois, F., & Milne, E. (2022). Experiences of criticism in adults with ADHD: A qualitative study. *PloS One*, 17(2), e0263366. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0263366.
- Biaggi, A., Conroy, S., Pawlby, S., & Pariante, C. M. (2016). Identifying the women at risk of antenatal anxiety and depression: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 191, 62–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.014.
- Bitsko, R. H., Holbrook, J. R., O'Masta, B., Maher, B., Cerles, A., Saadeh, K. et al. (2022). A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Prenatal, Birth, and Postnatal Factors Associated with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in Children. *Prevention science : The Official Journal of The Society for Prevention Research*, 10.1007/s11121-022-01359-3. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-022-01359-3.
- Bond, D. J., Hadjipavlou, G., Lam, R. W., McIntyre, R. S., Beaulieu, S., & Schaffer, A. ... (2012). The Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) task force recommendations for the management of patients with mood disorders and comorbid attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry* : *Official Journal of The American Academy of Clinical Psychiatrists*, 24(1), 23–37.
- Boucher, O., Julvez, J., Guxens, M., Arranz, E., Ibarluzea, J., & Sánchez de Miguel ... (2017). Association between breastfeeding duration and cognitive development, autistic traits and ADHD symptoms: a multicenter study in Spain. *Pediatric Research*, 81(3), 434–442. https://doi.org/10.1038/pr.2016.238.
- Brahmbhatt, K., Hilty, D. M., Hah, M., Han, J., Angkustsiri, K., & Schweitzer, J. B. (2016). Diagnosis and Treatment of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder During Adolescence in the Primary Care Setting: A Concise Review. *The Journal of Adolescent Health : Official Publication of The Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 59(2), 135–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.03.025.
- Braun, J. M., Kahn, R. S., Froehlich, T., Auinger, P., & Lanphear, B. P. (2006). Exposures to environmental toxicants and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in U.S. children. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 114(12), 1904–1909. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9478.

- Burton, C. L., Wright, L., Shan, J., Xiao, B., Dupuis, A., & Goodale, T. .... (2019). SWAN scale for ADHD trait-based genetic research: a validity and polygenic risk study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 60(9), 988–997. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13032.
- Chudal, R., Brown, A. S., Gyllenberg, D., Hinkka-Yli-Salomäki, S., Sucksdorff, M., Surcel, H. M., et al. (2020). Maternal serum C-reactive protein (CRP) and offspring attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 29(2), 239–247. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-019-01372-y.
- Cloninger, C.R., Svrakic, D.M., & Przybeck, T,R, (1993). A psychobiological model of temperament and character *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 50:975-990. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1993.01820240059008.
- Cloninger, C. R., Svrakic, N. M., & Svrakic, D. M. (1997). Role of personality selforganization in development of mental order and disorder. *Development and Psychopathology*, 9(4), 881–906. https://doi.org/10.1017/s095457949700148x
- Costa, P.T., & McCrae, R.R. (1992). Normal personality assessment in clinical practice: the NEO personality inventory. *Psychological Assessment*. 4(1):5–13. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.4.1.5.
- Costa, V. D., Tran, V. L., Turchi, J., & Averbeck, B. B. (2014). Dopamine modulates novelty seeking behavior during decision making. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 128(5), 556–566. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037128.
- Coussons-Read M. E. (2013). Effects of prenatal stress on pregnancy and human development: mechanisms and pathways. *Obstetric Medicine*, 6(2), 52–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/1753495X12473751.
- Cuffe, S. P., Visser, S. N., Holbrook, J. R., Danielson, M. L., Geryk, L. L., Wolraich, M. L., & McKeown, R. E. (2020). ADHD and Psychiatric Comorbidity: Functional Outcomes in a School-Based Sample of Children. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 24(9), 1345– 1354. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054715613437
- Curry, A. E., Metzger, K. B., Pfeiffer, M. R., Elliott, M. R., Winston, F. K., & Power, T. J. (2017). Motor Vehicle Crash Risk Among Adolescents and Young Adults With Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 171(8), 756–763. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0910
- Czamara, D., Tiesler, C. M., Kohlböck, G., Berdel, D., Hoffmann, B., Bauer, C. P., Koletzko, S., Schaaf, B., Lehmann, I., Herbarth, O., von Berg, A., Müller-Myhsok, B., Schulte-Körne, G., & Heinrich, J. (2013). Children with ADHD symptoms have a higher risk for reading, spelling and math difficulties in the GINIplus and LISAplus cohort studies. *PloS One*, 8(5), e63859. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063859
- Dalsgaard, S., Østergaard, S. D., Leckman, J. F., Mortensen, P. B., & Pedersen, M. G. (2015). Mortality in children, adolescents, and adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a nationwide cohort study. *Lancet (London, England)*, 385(9983), 2190–2196. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61684-6.

- De La Rochebrochard, E., & Joshi, H. (2013). Children born after unplanned pregnancies and cognitive development at 3 years: social differentials in the United Kingdom Millennium Cohort. American Journal of Epidemiology, 178(6), 910–920. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwt063
- Demirtas, B. (2012) Strategies to support breastfeeding: a review. International Nursing Review 59:474–481. doi:10.1111/j.1466-7657.2012.01017.
- Deotto, A., Eastwood, J. D., & Toplak, M. E. (2022). Temperament Profiles Associated with Internalizing Symptoms and Externalizing Behavior in Adolescents with ADHD. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 53(1), 109–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-020-01116-z.
- Donzelli, G., Carducci, A., Llopis-Gonzalez, A., Verani, M., Llopis-Morales, A., Cioni, L., & Morales-Suárez-Varela, M. (2019). The Association between Lead and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(3), 382. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16030382.
- Dunn, G. A., Nigg, J. T., & Sullivan, E. L. (2019). Neuroinflammation as a risk factor for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior*, 182, 22–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2019.05.005
- Eftekhariyazdi, M., Mehrbakhsh, M., Neamatshahi, M., & Moghadam, M. Y. (2021). Comparison of pregnancy complications in unintended and intended pregnancy: A prospective follow-up study. *BioMedicine*, 11(4), 51–56. https://doi.org/10.37796/2211-8039.1192
- Einarson, A., & Riordan, S. (2009). Smoking in pregnancy and lactation: a review of risks and cessation strategies. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 65(4), 325–330. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-008-0609-0.
- Elia, J., Ambrosini, P., & Berrettini, W. (2008). ADHD characteristics: I. Concurrent comorbidity patterns in children & adolescents. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 2(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-2-15.
- Epstein, J. N., & Loren, R. E. (2013). Changes in the Definition of ADHD in DSM-5: Subtle but Important. *Neuropsychiatry*, 3(5), 455–458. https://doi.org/10.2217/npy.13.59.
- Ercan, E. S., Kandulu, R., Uslu, E., Ardic, U. A., Yazici, K. U., Basay, B. K., Aydın, C., & Rohde, L. A. (2013). Prevalence and diagnostic stability of ADHD and ODD in Turkish children: a 4-year longitudinal study. *Child And Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 7(1), 30. https://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-7-30.
- Evans, S., Sciberras, E., & Mulraney, M. (2020). The Relationship Between Maternal Stress and Boys' ADHD Symptoms and Quality of Life: An Australian Prospective Cohort Study. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 50, e33–e38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2019.09.029.
- Faraone, S. V., & Larsson, H. (2019). Genetics of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Molecular psychiatry*, 24(4), 562–575. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0070-0.

- Faraone, S. V., Banaschewski, T., Coghill, D., Zheng, Y., Biederman, J., & Bellgrove, M. A. ... (2021). The World Federation of ADHD International Consensus Statement: 208 Evidence-based conclusions about the disorder. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 128, 789–818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.01.022
- Faraone, S. V., Kunwar, A., Adamson, J., & Biederman, J. (2009). Personality traits among ADHD adults: implications of late-onset and subthreshold diagnoses. *Psychological Medicine*, 39(4), 685–693. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291708003917.
- Faraone, S., Biederman, J., & Monuteaux, M. C. (2002). Further evidence for the diagnostic continuity between child and adolescent ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 6(1), 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/108705470200600102.
- Farmer, R. F., & Goldberg, L. R. (2008). A psychometric evaluation of the revised Temperament and Character Inventory (TCI-R) and the TCI-140. *Psychological Assessment*, 20(3), 281–291. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012934.
- Felt, B. T., Biermann, B., Christner, J. G., Kochhar, P., & Harrison, R. V. (2014). Diagnosis and management of ADHD in children. American family physician, 90(7), 456–464.
- Fernell, E., & Gillberg, C. (2023). Autism under the umbrella of ESSENCE. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 14, 1002228. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1002228
- Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (THL) (2021). Imeväisikäiset. https://thl.fi/aiheet/elintavat-ja-ravitsemus/ravitsemus/ravitsemussuositukset/ imevaisikaiset. Cited 3.3.2023.
- Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (THL) (2024). Lasten ja nuorten ADHDdiagnoosien yleisyys 2022. Cited 21.3.2024. https://thl.fi/tilastot-ja-data/tilastotaiheittain/lapset-nuoret-ja-perheet/lasten-ja-nuorten-adhd-diagnoosien-yleisyys.
- Forray, A., & Foster, D. (2015). Substance Use in the Perinatal Period. Current Psychiatry Reports, 17(11), 91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-015-0626-5.
- Franz, A. P., Bolat, G. U., Bolat, H., Matijasevich, A., Santos, I. S., Silveira, R. C., Procianoy, R. S., Rohde, L. A., & Moreira-Maia, C. R. (2018). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Very Preterm/Very Low Birth Weight: A Meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 141(1), e20171645. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-1645.
- Furman, D., Campisi, J., Verdin, E., Carrera-Bastos, P., Targ, S., Franceschi, C. et al. (2019). Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span. *Nature Medicine*, 25(12), 1822–1832. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0675-0.
- Furzer, J., Dhuey, E., & Laporte, A. (2022). ADHD misdiagnosis: Causes and mitigators. *Health Economy*, 31(9):1926-1953. doi: 10.1002/hec.4555.
- Gabay, C., & Kushner, I. (1999). Acute-phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 340(6), 448–454. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199902113400607.
- Gair, S. L., Brown, H. R., Kang, S., Grabell, A. S., & Harvey, E. A. (2021). Early Development of Comorbidity Between Symptoms of ADHD and Anxiety. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 49(3), 311–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-020-00724-6.

- Gillberg, C., Gillberg, I. C., Rasmussen, P., Kadesjö, B., Söderström, H., Råstam, M., Johnson, M., Rothenberger, A., & Niklasson, L. (2004). Co-existing disorders in ADHD -- implications for diagnosis and intervention. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 13 Suppl 1, 180–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-004-1008-4.
- Ginsberg, Y., D'Onofrio, B. M., Rickert, M. E., Class, Q. A., Rosenqvist, M. A., & Almqvist, C. ... (2019). Maternal infection requiring hospitalization during pregnancy and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in offspring: a quasi-experimental family-based study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, and allied disciplines, 60(2), 160– 168. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12959.
- Golmirzaei, J., Namazi, S., Amiri, S., Zare, S., Rastikerdar, N., & Hesam, A.A. .... (2013). Evaluation of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder risk factors. *International Journal* of Pediatrics. 2013:953103. doi: 10.1155/2013/953103.
- Goodlad, J. K., Marcus, D. K., & Fulton, J. J. (2013). Lead and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) symptoms: a meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 33(3), 417–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.01.009.
- Graham, A. M., Rasmussen, J. M., Rudolph, M. D., Heim, C. M., Gilmore, J. H., Styner M. et al. (2018). Maternal Systemic Interleukin-6 During Pregnancy Is Associated With Newborn Amygdala Phenotypes and Subsequent Behavior at 2 Years of Age. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83(2), 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.05.027.
- Gustafsson, H. C., Sullivan, E. L., Battison, E. A. J., Holton, K. F., Graham, A. M., Karalunas, S. L., Fair, D. A., Loftis, J. M., & Nigg, J. T. (2020). Evaluation of maternal inflammation as a marker of future offspring ADHD symptoms: A prospective investigation. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 89, 350–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.07.019.
- Han, V. X., Patel, S., Jones, H. F., Nielsen, T. C., Mohammad, S. S., Hofer, M. J. et al. (2021). Maternal acute and chronic inflammation in pregnancy is associated with common neurodevelopmental disorders: a systematic review. *Translational Psychiatry*, 11(1), 71. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-021-01198-w.
- Hansenne, M. (1999). P300 and personality: an investigation with the Cloninger's model. *Biological Psychology*, 50(2), 143–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-0511(99)00008-3.
- Harpin, V., Mazzone, L., Raynaud, J. P., Kahle, J., & Hodgkins, P. (2016). Long-Term Outcomes of ADHD: A Systematic Review of Self-Esteem and Social Function. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 20(4), 295–305. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054713486516.
- Hasunen, K., Kalavainen, M., Keinonen, H., Lyytikäinen, A., Nurttila, A., & Peltola, T. Lapsi, perhe ja ruoka. Tukiaineisto äitiys- ja lastenneuvolan ravitsemuskasvatukseen. Lääkintöhallituksen julkaisuja. Terveyden edistäminen. Sarja Tilastot ja selvitykset 7/1989. Helsinki.
- He, J.A., Antshel, K.M., Biederman, J. & Faraone, S.V. (2019). Do Personality Traits Predict Functional Impairment and Quality of Life in Adult ADHD? A Controlled Study. *Journal of Attention Disorders* 23(1):12-21. doi: 10.1177/1087054715613440.

- Herba, C. M., Roza, S., Govaert, P., Hofman, A., Jaddoe, V., Verhulst, F. C., & Tiemeier, H. (2013). Breastfeeding and early brain development: the Generation R study. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 9(3), 332–349. https://doi.org/10.1111/mcn.12015.
- Hilmo (Hoitoilmoitusjärjestelmä) (2023). 18.9.2023 https://thl.fi/fi/tilastot-ja-data/ohjeettietojen-toimittamiseen/hoitoilmoitusjarjestelma-hilmo
- Huhtala, E. 2015. Prenatal maternal stress and child ADHD symptoms in early childhood. Thesis. Faculty of Behavioural Sciences.
- Hus, Y., & Segal, O. (2021). Challenges Surrounding the Diagnosis of Autism in Children. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 17, 3509–3529. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S282569
- Jangmo, A., Stålhandske, A., Chang, Z., Chen, Q., Almqvist, C., Feldman, I., Bulik, C. M., Lichtenstein, P., D'Onofrio, B., Kuja-Halkola, R., & Larsson, H. (2019). Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, School Performance, and Effect of Medication. *Journal* of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 58(4), 423–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2018.11.014.
- Ji, Y., Hong, X., Wang, G., Chatterjee, N., Riley, A. W., Lee, L. C., Surkan, P. J., Bartell, T. R., Zuckerman, B., & Wang, X. (2018). A Prospective Birth Cohort Study on Early Childhood Lead Levels and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: New Insight on Sex Differences. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 199, 124–131.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.03.076.
- Järvelin, M.R., Hartikainen-Sorri, A.L. & Rantakallio, P. (1993). Labour induction policy in hospitals of different levels of specialisation. an International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology 100(4):310-315. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1993.tb12971.
- Katzman, M. A., Bilkey, T. S., Chokka, P. R., Fallu, A., & Klassen, L. J. (2017). Adult ADHD and comorbid disorders: clinical implications of a dimensional approach. *BMC Psychiatry*, 17(1), 302. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-017-1463-3
- Kaufman, J., Birmaher, B., Brent, D., Rao, U., Flynn, C., Moreci P. et al. (1997). Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children-Present and Lifetime Version (K-SADS-PL): initial reliability and validity data. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 36(7), 980–988. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199707000-00021.
- Kentrou, V., de Veld, D. M., Mataw, K. J., & Begeer, S. (2019). Delayed autism spectrum disorder recognition in children and adolescents previously diagnosed with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Autism : The International Journal of Research and Practice*, 23(4), 1065–1072. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361318785171
- Kessler, R. C., Adler, L. A., Berglund, P., Green, J. G., McLaughlin, K. A., Fayyad, J. et al. (2014). The effects of temporally secondary co-morbid mental disorders on the associations of DSM-IV ADHD with adverse outcomes in the US National Comorbidity Survey Replication Adolescent Supplement (NCS-A). *Psychological Medicine*, 44(8), 1779–1792. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713002419.

- Kim, K.M., Nam, S., Kim, S.Y., Lee, S.M., Choi, J.W., & Kang, T. ... (2016). Psychopathological, temperamental, and characteristic factors in adults with remaining childhood ADHD symptoms. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice*. 21(3): 236-241. doi.org/10.1080/13651501.2017.1297835.
- Kim, J. H., Kim, J. Y., Lee, J., Jeong, G. H., Lee, E., & Lee, S. ... (2020). Environmental risk factors, protective factors, and peripheral biomarkers for ADHD: an umbrella review. *The lancet. Psychiatry*, 7(11), 955–970. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30312-6.
- Knopik, V. S., Marceau, K., Bidwell, L. C., & Rolan, E. (2019). Prenatal substance exposure and offspring development: Does DNA methylation play a role?. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 71, 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2018.01.009.
- Komasi, S., Rezaei, F., Hemmati, A., Rahmani, K., Amianto, F., & Miettunen, J. (2022). Comprehensive meta-analysis of associations between temperament and character traits in Cloninger's psychobiological theory and mental disorders. *The Journal of International Medical Research*, 50(1), 3000605211070766. https://doi.org/10.1177/03000605211070766.
- Kop W. & Kupper H (2016). Stress: Concepts, Cognition, Emotion, and Behavior, Academic Press, Pages 345-350, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800951-2.00043-1.
- Kresanov, K., Tuominen, J., Piha, J., & Almqvist, F. (1998). Validity of child psychiatric screening methods. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*. 7(2):85-95. doi: 10.1007/s007870050052.
- Krol, K. M., & Grossmann, T. (2018). Psychological effects of breastfeeding on children and mothers. Psychologische Effekte des Stillens auf Kinder und Mütter. Bundesgesundheitsblatt, Gesundheitsforschung, Gesundheitsschutz, 61(8), 977–985. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00103-018-2769-0
- Langberg, J. M., Vaughn, A. J., Brinkman, W. B., Froehlich, T., & Epstein, J. N. (2010). Clinical utility of the Vanderbilt ADHD Rating Scale for ruling out comorbid learning disorders. *Pediatrics*, 126(5), e1033–e1038. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2010-1267
- Lange, S., Probst, C., Rehm, J., & Popova, S. (2018). National, regional, and global prevalence of smoking during pregnancy in the general population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet. Global Health*, 6(7), e769–e776. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30223-7.
- Larson, K., Russ, S. A., Kahn, R. S., & Halfon, N. (2011). Patterns of comorbidity, functioning, and service use for US children with ADHD, 2007. *Pediatrics*, 127(3), 462–470. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2010-0165.
- Li, J., Olsen, J., Vestergaard, M., & Obel, C. (2010). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in the offspring following prenatal maternal bereavement: a nationwide follow-up study in Denmark. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 19(10), 747–753. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-010-0113-9.
- Lin, Y. H., Chen, C. Y., Li, P., & Lin, S. H. (2013). A dimensional approach to the phantom vibration and ringing syndrome during medical internship. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 47(9), 1254–1258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.023.

- Mann, J. R., & McDermott, S. (2011). Are maternal genitourinary infection and preeclampsia associated with ADHD in school-aged children?. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 15(8), 667–673. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054710370566.
- Manzari, N., Matvienko-Sikar, K., Baldoni, F., O'Keeffe, G. W., & Khashan, A. S. (2019). Prenatal maternal stress and risk of neurodevelopmental disorders in the offspring: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 54(11), 1299–1309. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-019-01745-3.
- Marquez-Arrico, J. E., López-Vera, S., Prat, G., & Adan, A. (2016). Temperament and character dimensions in male patients with substance use disorders: Differences relating to psychiatric comorbidity. *Psychiatry Research*, 237, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.01.061.
- McDonald, S. W., Lyon, A. W., Benzies, K. M., McNeil, D. A., Lye, S. J., & Dolan, S. M. ... (2013). The All Our Babies pregnancy cohort: design, methods, and participant characteristics. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 13 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), S2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-13-S1-S2.
- McNeil, T. F., Schubert, E. W., Cantor-Graae, E., Brossner, M., Schubert, P., & Henriksson, K. M. (2009). Unwanted pregnancy as a risk factor for offspring schizophreniaspectrum and affective disorders in adulthood: a prospective high-risk study. *Psychological medicine*, 39(6), 957–965. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291708004479
- Melegari, M.G., Nanni, V., Lucidi, F., Russo, P.M., Donfrancesco, R. & Cloninger, C.R. (2015). Temperamental and character profiles of preschool children with ODD, ADHD and anxiety disorders. *Comprehensive Psychiatry* 58:94-101. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2015.01.001.
- Merwood, A., Asherson, P. & Larsson, H. (2013). Genetic associations between the ADHD symptom dimensions and Cloninger's temperament dimensions in adult twins. European *Neuropsychiatrypharmacology* 23(6):416-425. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2012.10.003.
- Mokobane, M., Pillay, B. J., & Meyer, A. (2019). Fine motor deficits and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in primary school children. The South African journal of psychiatry : SAJP : the journal of the Society of Psychiatrists of South Africa, 25, 1232. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajpsychiatry.v25i0.1232
- Montagna, A., Karolis, V., Batalle, D., Counsell, S., Rutherford, M., Arulkumaran, S. et al. (2020). ADHD symptoms and their neurodevelopmental correlates in children born very preterm. *PloS One*, 15(3), e0224343. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0224343
- Mutluer, T., Aslan Genç, H., Özcan Morey, A., Yapici Eser, H., Ertinmaz, B., Can, M., & Munir, K. (2022). Population-Based Psychiatric Comorbidity in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13, 856208. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.856208
- Nagel, B. J., Bathula, D., Herting, M., Schmitt, C., Kroenke, C. D., Fair, D., & Nigg, J. T. (2011). Altered white matter microstructure in children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of The American Academy of Child And Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50(3), 283–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2010.12.003.

- Nagy, Z., Karsai, I., Nagy, T., Kátai, E., Miseta, A., Fazekas, G., Láng, A., Kocsor, F., & Kállai, J. (2022). Reward Dependence-Moderated Noradrenergic and Hormonal Responses During Noncompetitive and Competitive Physical Activities. *Frontiers in behavioral neuroscience*, 16, 763220. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2022.763220.
- Okano, L., Ji, Y., Riley, A. W., & Wang, X. (2019). Maternal psychosocial stress and children's ADHD diagnosis: a prospective birth cohort study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 40(3), 217–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/0167482X.2018.1468434.
- Ou, X., Andres, A., Cleves, M. A., Pivik, R. T., Snow, J. H., Ding, Z., & Badger, T. M. (2014). Sex-specific association between infant diet and white matter integrity in 8-yold children. *Pediatric Research*, 76(6), 535–543. https://doi.org/10.1038/pr.2014.129.
- Pearson, T. A., Mensah, G. A., Alexander, R. W., Anderson, J. L., Cannon, R. O., & Criqui, M. ... (2003). Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: application to clinical and public health practice: A statement for healthcare professionals from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American Heart Association. Circulation, 107(3), 499–511. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000052939.59093.45.
- Perroud, N., Hasler, R., Golay, N., Zimmermann, J., Prada, P., & Nicastro, R. ... (2016). Personality profiles in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *BMC Psychiatry* 16:199. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-0906-6.
- Pineda, D.A., Palacio, L.G., Puerta, I.C., Merchán, V., Arango, C.P., & Galvis, A.Y. ... (2007). Environmental influences that affect attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: study of a genetic isolate. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*. 8;16(5):337-46. doi: 10.1007/s00787-007-0605-4.
- Pinzone, V., De Rossi, P., Trabucchi, G., Lester, D., Girardi, P., & Pompili, M. (2019). Temperament correlates in adult ADHD: A systematic review. *Journal Of Affective Disorders*, 252, 394 – 403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.04.006.
- Pliszka S. R. (1998). Comorbidity of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder with psychiatric disorder: an overview. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 59 Suppl 7, 50–58.
- Polderman, T. J., Boomsma, D. I., Bartels, M., Verhulst, F. C., & Huizink, A. C. (2010). A systematic review of prospective studies on attention problems and academic achievement. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 122(4), 271–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2010.01568.x.
- Posner, J., Polanczyk, G. V., & Sonuga-Barke, E. (2020). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Lancet* (London, England), 395(10222), 450–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)33004-1.
- Rettew, D. C., Copeland, W., Stanger, C., & Hudziak, J. J. (2004). Associations between temperament and DSM-IV externalizing disorders in children and adolescents. *Journal* of Developmental And Behavioral Pediatrics : JDBP, 25(6), 383–391. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004703-200412000-00001.
- Rice, F., Harold, G. T., Boivin, J., van den Bree, M., Hay, D. F., & Thapar, A. (2010). The links between prenatal stress and offspring development and psychopathology: disentangling environmental and inherited influences. *Psychological Medicine*, 40(2), 335–345. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291709005911.

- Rifai, N., & Ridker, P. M. (2003). Population distributions of C-reactive protein in apparently healthy men and women in the United States: implication for clinical interpretation. *Clinical Chemistry*, 49(4), 666–669. https://doi.org/10.1373/49.4.666.
- Riglin, L., Leppert, B., Dardani, C., Thapar, A. K., Rice, F., O'Donovan, M. C., Davey Smith, G., Stergiakouli, E., Tilling, K., & Thapar, A. (2021). ADHD and depression: investigating a causal explanation. *Psychological Medicine*, 51(11), 1890–1897. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291720000665.
- Rodriguez, A., & Bohlin, G. (2005). Are maternal smoking and stress during pregnancy related to ADHD symptoms in children?. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 46(3), 246–254. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00359.x.
- Ronald, A., Pennell, C. E., & Whitehouse, A. J. (2011). Prenatal Maternal Stress Associated with ADHD and Autistic Traits in early Childhood. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 1, 223. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2010.00223.
- Rosenberg, J. B., Richardt Møllegaard Jepsen, J., Mohammadzadeh, P., Sevelsted, A., Vinding, R., &Sørensen, M. E. ... (2023). Maternal inflammation during pregnancy is associated with risk of ADHD in children at age 10. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 115, 450–457. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2023.10.023
- Rosenqvist, M. A., Sjölander, A., Ystrom, E., Larsson, H., & Reichborn-Kjennerud, T. (2019). Adverse family life events during pregnancy and ADHD symptoms in fiveyear-old offspring. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 60(6), 665–675. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12990.
- Rutter, M. (1967). A Children's Behaviour Questionnaire for Completion By Teachers: Preliminary Findings. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1967.tb02175.
- Salari, N., Ghasemi, H., Abdoli, N., Rahmani, A., Shiri, M. H., Hashemian, A. H., Akbari, H., & Mohammadi, M. (2023). The global prevalence of ADHD in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Italian journal of Pediatrics*, 49(1), 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13052-023-01456-1.
- Salgado, C. A., Bau, C. H., Grevet, E. H., Fischer, A. G., Victor, M. M., Kalil, K. L., Sousa, N. O., Garcia, C. R., & Belmonte-de-Abreu, P. (2009). Inattention and hyperactivity dimensions of ADHD are associated with different personality profiles. *Psychopathology*, 42(2), 108–112. https://doi.org/10.1159/000203343.
- Salvi, V., Migliarese, G., Venturi, V., Rossi, F., Torriero, S., Viganò, V., Cerveri, G., & Mencacci, C. (2019). ADHD in adults: clinical subtypes and associated characteristics. *Rivista Di Psichiatria*, 54(2), 84–89. https://doi.org/10.1708/3142.31249.
- Salvi, V., Ribuoli, E., Servasi, M., Orsolini, L., & Volpe, U. (2021). ADHD and Bipolar Disorder in Adulthood: Clinical and Treatment Implications. *Medicina* (Kaunas, Lithuania), 57(5), 466. https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina57050466.
- Sanchez, C. E., Barry, C., Sabhlok, A., Russell, K., Majors, A., Kollins, S. H., & Fuemmeler, B. F. (2018). Maternal pre-pregnancy obesity and child neurodevelopmental outcomes: a meta-analysis. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, 19(4), 464–484. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12643.

- Sawhney, I., Perera, B., Bassett, P., Zia, A., Alexander, R. T., & Shankar, R. (2021). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in people with intellectual disability: statistical approach to developing a bespoke screening tool. *BJPsych Open*, 7(6), e187. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjo.2021.1023
- Say, G.N., Karabekiroğlu, K., Babadağı, Z., & Yüce, M. (2016). Maternal stress and perinatal features in autism and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatric International*. Apr;58(4):265-9. doi: 10.1111/ped.12822.
- Say, G. N., Babadağı, Z., & Karabekiroğlu, K. (2015). Breastfeeding history in children with autism and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Breastfeeding Medicine : The Official Journal of the Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine*, 10(5), 283–284. https://doi.org/10.1089/bfm.2015.0033.
- Sayal, K., Prasad, V., Daley, D., Ford, T., & Coghill, D. (2018). ADHD in children and young people: prevalence, care pathways, and service provision. *The Lancet. Psychiatry*, 5(2), 175–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30167-0.
- Schwenke, E., Fasching, P. A., Faschingbauer, F., Pretscher, J., Kehl, S., Peretz, R. et al. (2018). Predicting attention deficit hyperactivity disorder using pregnancy and birth characteristics. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 298(5), 889–895. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-018-4888-0.
- Sciberras, E., Mulraney, M., Silva, D., & Coghill, D. (2017). Prenatal Risk Factors and the Etiology of ADHD-Review of Existing Evidence. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 19(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-017-0753-2.
- Seckl, J. R., & Holmes, M. C. (2007). Mechanisms of disease: glucocorticoids, their placental metabolism and fetal 'programming' of adult pathophysiology. Nature clinical practice. *Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 3(6), 479–488. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpendmet0515.
- Seo, J. C., Jon, D. I., Shim, S. H., Sung, H. M., Woo, Y. S., Hong, J., Park, S. Y., Seo, J. S., & Bahk, W. M. (2022). Prevalence and Comorbidities of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder Among Adults and Children/Adolescents in Korea. *Clinical psychopharmacology and neuroscience : the official scientific journal of the Korean College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 20(1), 126–134. https://doi.org/10.9758/cpn.2022.20.1.126.
- Seppä, S., Halt, A. H., Nordström, T., & Hurtig, T. (2023). Effects of Symptoms of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD) on Academic Performance and Educational Attainment. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 10.1007/s10578-023-01598-7. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-023-01598-7
- Shao, S., Wang, J., Huang, K., Wang, S., Liu, H., Wan, S., Yan, S., Hao, J., Zhu, P., & Tao, F. (2020). Prenatal pregnancy-related anxiety predicts boys' ADHD symptoms via placental C-reactive protein. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 120, 104797. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2020.104797.
- Silva, D., Colvin, L., Hagemann, E., & Bower, C. (2014). Environmental risk factors by gender associated with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatrics*, 133(1), e14– e22. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-1434.

- Simon, V., Czobor, P., Bálint, S., Mészáros, A., & Bitter, I. (2009). Prevalence and correlates of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: meta-analysis. *The British journal of psychiatry : The Journal of Mental Science*, 194(3), 204–211. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.048827.
- Skogli, E. W., Teicher, M. H., Andersen, P. N., Hovik, K. T., & Øie, M. (2013). ADHD in girls and boys--gender differences in co-existing symptoms and executive function measures. *BMC psychiatry*, 13, 298. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-13-298.
- Smalley, S.L., McGough, J.J., Moilanen, I.K., Loop, S.K., Taanila, A., & Ebeling, H. ... (2007). Prevalence and Psychiatric Comorbidity of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder in an Adolescent Finnish Population. *Journal of American Academy Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 46(12):1575-1583. doi: 10.1097/chi.0b013e3181573137.
- Sonuga-Barke, E. J., & Halperin, J. M. (2010). Developmental phenotypes and causal pathways in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: potential targets for early intervention?. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 51(4), 368–389. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02195.x
- Sourander, A., Sucksdorff, M., Chudal, R., Surcel, H. M., Hinkka-Yli-Salomäki, S., Gyllenberg, D., Cheslack-Postava, K., & Brown, A. S. (2019). Prenatal Cotinine Levels and ADHD Among Offspring. *Pediatrics*, 143(3), e20183144. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2018-3144
- Spencer, N.J., Ludvigsson, J., Bai, G., Gauvin, L., Clifford, S.A. & Abu Awad, Y. ... (2022). EPOCH Collaborative Group. Social gradients in ADHD by household income and maternal education exposure during early childhood: Findings from birth cohort studies across six countries. *PLoS One*, 16;17(3):e0264709. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0264709.
- Spijkerman, R., Crunelle, C. L., Özgen, M. H., Begeman, A. H. A., Dom, G., van de Glind, G., Groenman, A. P., van Kernebeek, M. W., Matthys, F., Post, M., Schellekens, A., Staal, W., van den Brink, W., & Hendriks, V. M. (2021). Jongeren met een stoornis in het gebruik van middelen en ADHD: internationale consensus [Adolescents with concurrent ADHD and substance use disorder; international consensus]. *Tijdschrift Voor Psychiatrie*, 63(12), 868–874.
- Stadler, D.D., Musser, E.D., Holton, K.F., Shannon, J., & Nigg, J.T. (2016). Recalled Initiation and Duration of Maternal Breastfeeding Among Children with and Without ADHD in a Well Characterized Case-Control Sample. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, Feb;44(2):347-55. doi: 10.1007/s10802-015-9987-9.
- Staikova, E., Gomes, H., Tartter, V., McCabe, A., & Halperin, J. M. (2013). Pragmatic deficits and social impairment in children with ADHD. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 54(12), 1275–1283. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12082
- Storebø, O. J., Rasmussen, P. D., & Simonsen, E. (2016). Association Between Insecure Attachment and ADHD: Environmental Mediating Factors. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, 20(2), 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054713501079.
- Stuebe, A. (2009). The risks of not breastfeeding for mothers and infants. *Reviews in obstetrics & gynecology*, 2(4), 222–231.

- Svrakic, D. M., Whitehead, C., Przybeck, T. R., & Cloninger, C. R. (1993). Differential diagnosis of personality disorders by the seven-factor model of temperament and character. *Archives Of General Psychiatry*, 50(12), 991–999. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1993.01820240075009.
- Swanson, J.M., Kraemer, H.C., Hinshaw, S.P., Arnold, L.E., Conners, C.K., & Abikoff, H.B. ... (2001). Clinical Relevance of the Primary Findings of the MTA: Success Rates Based on Severity of ADHD and ODD Symptoms at the End of Treatment. *Journal of American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 40(2):168-179. doi: 10.1097/00004583-200102000-00011.
- Swanson, J. M., Schuck, S., Porter, M. M., Carlson, C., Hartman, C. A. & Sergeant, J. A. ... (2012). Categorical and Dimensional Definitions and Evaluations of Symptoms of ADHD: History of the SNAP and the SWAN Rating Scales. *The International Journal* of Educational And Psychological Assessment, 10(1), 51–70.
- Taanila, A., Ebeling, H., Kotimaa, A., Moilanen, I., & Järvelin, M. R. (2004). Is a large family a protective factor against behavioural and emotional problems at the age of 8 years? *Acta Paediatrica* (Oslo, Norway : 1992), 93(4), 508–517. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.2004.93.4.508.
- Tamam, L., Karakus, G., & Ozpoyraz, N. (2008). Comorbidity of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and bipolar disorder: prevalence and clinical correlates. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 258(7), 385–393. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-008-0807-x.
- Tawia, S. (2013). Breastfeeding, brain structure and function, cognitive development and educational attainment. *Breastfeeding review : professional publication of the Nursing Mothers' Association of Australia*, 21(3), 15–20.
- Thapar, A., Cooper, M., Eyre, O., & Langley K. (2013). What have we learnt about the causes of ADHD?. *Journal Of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 54(1), 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2012.02611.x
- Thapar, A., Cooper, M., & Rutter, M. (2017). Neurodevelopmental disorders. *The Lancet*. Psychiatry, 4(4), 339–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30376-5
- Thapar, A., Langley, K., Asherson, P., & Gill, M. (2007). Gene-environment interplay in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and the importance of a developmental perspective. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2007;190:1–3. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.106.027003.
- Thomas, R., Sanders, S., Doust, J., Beller, E., & Glasziou, P. (2015). Prevalence of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 135(4), e994–e1001. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-3482
- Tseng, P. T., Yen, C. F., Chen, Y. W., Stubbs, B., Carvalho, A. F. & Whiteley, P. ... (2019). Maternal breastfeeding and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children: a metaanalysis. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 28(1), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-018-1182-4.
- Uchida, M., Driscoll, H., DiSalvo, M., Rajalakshmim, A., Maiello, M., Spera, V., & Biederman, J. (2021). Assessing the Magnitude of Risk for ADHD in Offspring of Parents with ADHD: A Systematic Literature Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal Of Attention Disorders*, 25(13), 1943–1948. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054720950815.

- University of Oulu: Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986. University of Oulu. http://urn.fi/urn.nbn:fi:att:f5c10eef-3d25-4bd0-beb8-f2d59df95b8e
- Van den Bergh, B. R. H., van den Heuvel, M. I., Lahti, M., Braeken, M., de Rooij, S. R., Entringer, S., Hoyer, D., Roseboom, T., Räikkönen, K., King, S., & Schwab, M. (2020). Prenatal developmental origins of behavior and mental health: The influence of maternal stress in pregnancy. *Neuroscience And Biobehavioral Reviews*, 117, 26–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.07.003.
- Vuori M. (2020). Prevalence of ADHD medication use among boys and girls in hospital districts and municipalities, 2018. Lääkärilehti 20(22), 1374 – 1379.
- Waldman, I. D. (2007). Gene-environment interactions reexamined: does mother's marital stability interact with the dopamine receptor D2 gene in the etiology of childhood attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder?. *Development And Psychopathology*, 19(4), 1117–1128. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579407000570.
- Werenberg Dreier, J., Nybo Andersen, A. M., Hvolby, A., Garne, E., Kragh Andersen, P., & Berg-Beckhoff, G. (2016). Fever and infections in pregnancy and risk of attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder in the offspring. *Journal Of Child Psychology And Psychiatry, And Allied Disciplines*, 57(4), 540–548. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12480.
- World Health Organization. (1993). The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Diagnostic criteria for research.
- World Health Organization. (2019). QE84 Acute stress reaction. In International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems (11th ed.). https://icd.who.int/browse11/lm/en#http%3a%2f%2fid.who.int%2ficd%2fentity%2f5 05909942
- Wu, Z. M., Wang, P., Liu, L., Liu, J., Cao, X. L., Sun, L., Cao, Q. J., Yang, L., Wang, Y. F., & Yang, B. R. (2022). ADHD-inattentive versus ADHD-Combined subtypes: A severity continuum or two distinct entities? A comprehensive analysis of clinical, cognitive and neuroimaging data. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 149, 28–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2022.02.012.
- Zhu, P., Hao, J. H., Tao, R. X., Huang, K., Jiang, X. M., Zhu, Y. D., & Tao, F. B. (2015). Sex-specific and time-dependent effects of prenatal stress on the early behavioral symptoms of ADHD: a longitudinal study in China. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 24(9), 1139–1147. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-015-0701-9.

# **Original publications**

- I Jallow, J., Halt, A.H., Öhman, H., & Hurtig, T. (2020). Prenatal inflammation does not increase the risk for symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in offspring. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30(11), 1825–1828. doi:10.1007/s00787-020-01580-x.
- II Jallow, J., Hurtig, T., Kerkelä, M., Miettunen, M., & Halt, A.H. (2024). Prenatal Maternal Stress, Breastfeeding and Offspring ADHD symptoms. *European & Child Adolescent Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-024-02451-5.
- III Jallow, J., Halt, A.H., Kerkelä, M., Hurtig, T., & Miettunen, J. (2023). Association of temperament and character traits with ADHD and its comorbidities. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 29, 1–7. doi: 10.1080/08039488.2023.2262994.

Reprinted with permission from Springer Nature (publication I & II) and Taylor & Francis Group (publication III).

Original publications are not included in the electronic version of the dissertation.

- 1772. Aitavaara-Anttila, Mia (2024) Clinical pathway of the critically ill patient in Oulu University Hospital district
- 1773. Lipponen, Joonas (2024) MitAtax : hereditary ataxias in Northern Finland
- 1774. Pramila-Savukoski, Sari (2024) Hybridikoulutusintervention kehittäminen terveystieteiden geneerisen osaamisen varmistamiseksi
- 1775. Heikkinen, Anna-Leena (2024) Evaluation of cognitive complaints and neuropsychological performance in early-onset cognitive impairment and dementia
- 1776. Tervonen, Miikka (2024) Dexmedetomidine sedation in children
- 1777. Partanen, Terhi (2024) Central nervous system manifestations in Puumala hantavirus infection
- 1778. Nätynki, Antti (2024) Autoimmunization against collagen XVII in patients with high risk for bullous pemphigoid and the effect of vildagliptin on the mouse skin proteome
- 1779. Sarfraz, Sonia (2024) Bacterial adhesion on patient-specific implant materials
- 1780. Heikkilä, Laura (2024) Terveyden edistäminen liikuntaseurassa : nuorten ruokailutottumukset, urheilun tavoitteellisuus ja kehonkuva
- 1781. Tissarinen, Pinja (2024) Human placental and serum proteins in spontaneous preterm birth
- 1782. Mattila, Suvi (2024) Multiplex polymerase chain reaction diagnostic testing for respiratory pathogens in acutely ill children
- 1783. Silvén, Heidi (2024) Incidence and etiologic factors of premature ovarian insufficiency : register-based nationwide study
- 1784. Karjula, Topias (2024) Treatment and histopathological prognostic factors of colorectal cancer pulmonary metastases
- 1785. Kamau, Suleiman (2024) Organisational integration of culturally and linguistically diverse nurses : a hypothetical model
- 1786. Jarva, Erika (2024) Digital health competence of healthcare professionals in healthcare settings
- 1787. Tuovinen, Timo (2024) Investigating BOLD signal variability and its physiological signal sources in Alzheimer's disease, behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia, and schizophrenia

Book orders: Virtual book store https://verkkokauppa.omapumu.com/fi/

#### UNIVERSITY OF OULU P.O. Box 8000 FI-90014 UNIVERSITY OF OULU FINLAND

### ACTA UNIVERSITATIS OULUENSIS

#### SERIES EDITORS

SCIENTIAE RERUM NATURALIUM University Lecturer Mahmoud Filali

UMANIORA University Lecturer Santeri Palviainen

ECHNICA Senior Research Fellow Antti Kaijalainen

University Lecturer Pirjo Kaakinen

SCIENTIAE RERUM SOCIALIUM University Lecturer Henri Pettersson

MEDICA

SCRIPTA ACADEMICA Strategy Officer Mari Katvala

OECONOMICA University Researcher Marko Korhonen

ARCHITECTONICA Associate Professor Anu Soikkeli

EDITOR IN CHIEF University Lecturer Santeri Palviainen



ISBN 978-952-62-4102-9 (Paperback) ISBN 978-952-62-4103-6 (PDF) ISSN 0355-3221 (Print) ISSN 1796-2234 (Online)